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Hon. Paul Caica MP
Minister for Agriculture Food and Fisheries
Minister for Forests

Hon. Paul Holloway MLC
Minister for Mineral Resources Development

Dear Ministers,

I am pleased to present the PIRSA annual report for the year ended 30 June 2009. The report has been 
prepared under section 66 of the Public Sector Management Act 1995, in accordance with the Act’s 
accompanying regulations as well as the fi nancial reporting requirements of the Public Finance and 
Audit Act 1987.

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive
PIRSA
30 September 2009
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C h i e f  E x e c u t i v e ’ s  O v e r v i e w

The Department of Primary Industries and Resources South Australia (PIRSA) is a diverse agency 
supporting a range of sectors from forestry and fi sheries to mining and agriculture, food and wine. 
It is heavily involved in research and innovation through the South Australian Research and Development 
Institute (SARDI) and Rural Solutions SA. It continues to focus on developing industries that are 
inventive, sustainable, competitive and respected on the international stage, with groundbreaking 
research by SARDI scientists to produce biodiesel from microalgae an excellent example.

The ongoing drought and its repercussions once again formed a major part of PIRSA’s business in 
2008-09.  A number of divisions have worked on projects with individual primary producers and 
communities around the state, helping them recover from the current tough conditions and look ahead 
to be better prepared for future droughts.

One such project has been the Commercial Investment Division-managed construction of a pipeline to 
bring vital water to irrigators at Langhorne and Currency creeks.  The $100 million pipeline, funded by a 
Federal Government grant and the growers themselves, is expected to begin pumping water from Jervois 
in the second half of 2009.

Rural Solutions SA has also been active in the Lower Lakes area, working on a revegetation project with 
the Department of Environment and Heritage to seed the drought-exposed lakebeds with cereal rye.  
The rye will later be knocked down and the mulch planted with native sedge, helping to fi ght sand drift 
and soil acidifi cation.

In the Riverland, Agriculture, the Food and Wine Division delivered critical water allocations to maintain 
permanent plantings, while SARDI completed a major analysis of low-rainfall farming on Eyre Peninsula, 
modelling climate scenarios through to 2030.

The opening of the SA Food Centre was a major inter-agency highlight, with PIRSA, the Department for 
Trade and Export Development (DTED) and TAFE SA all taking part. 

The centre, launched by the Premier in November, supports the SA Food Plan 2007-10 target of 
increasing fi nished food production by 8% a year.  The Food Centre provides practical technical help 
to the state’s food producers as they develop and improve their products along the value chain.

Value chain thinking has indeed become a catchword in primary production. PIRSA really embraced 
this in 2008-09, working closely on projects surrounding food and wine value chains with Thinker in 
Residence Professor Andrew Fearne. Professor Fearne is recognised as a world leader in value chain 
management and consumer thinking and his expertise will continue to be of great importance to the 
state for years to come.

The Agriculture, Food and Wine Division has also overseen another year free from fruit fl y outbreaks, an 
achievement that continues to add to the value of the state’s horticultural sector and in particular that 
of the Riverland. In the face of the global fi nancial crisis, protecting our markets has become even more 
important than before.

SA’s mines sector has also weathered the global fi nancial crisis well, maintaining its top -10 ranking on 
the international Mineral Potential Index for the fourth year in a row. Mining leases now cover close to 
400 000 square kilometres of the state and a two-year extension of the PIRSA-managed PACE initiative is 
expected to see this increase.
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Through PACE, Minerals and Energy Resources has made a signifi cant contribution to the growth in 
mining in the state. From fi ve major mines when the initiative began in 2004, we have 11 operating this 
year.  The target is 16 mines by the end of 2010, and with nearly 30 projects in the pipeline and more 
than 70 prospects being investigated, that fi gure is bound to rise further.

One of the mines set to begin production next year is Iluka’s $450 million Jacinth-Ambrosia mineral 
sands mine on the Far West Coast.  As lead agency in the State Government/Iluka working group, PIRSA’s 
Commercial Investments Division played a signifi cant role in bringing the new mine to fruition. A major 
achievement for 2008-09 was managing the approval process to build a connecting road to the mine, 
which is 200km from Ceduna.

The past year has also been a busy one for the researchers and policy makers who support our vital and 
growing seafood sector.

SARDI had a high point in the launch of the $6.59 million extension to the Lincoln Marine Science 
Centre at Boston Bay.  The expansion, which is part of the Marine Innovation SA project, brings together 
scientists from all over the state to support marine research and education.

PIRSA Fisheries has completed a mammoth study, fi nishing its latest recreational fi shing survey to update 
information on the activities of SA’s 320 000 recreational fi shers and the state of the fi shery.  The report 
is due out in coming months, with the information to shape future policy decisions and be fed back into 
research, management and the fi shing community.

Our Aquaculture Division has continued to contribute to the state’s multimillion dollar aquaculture 
industry, providing planning and management solutions in crucial areas such as zoning and approvals for 
new ventures.

For PIRSA Forestry, the development of Guidelines for Plantation Forestry 2009 has been a major 
achievement. These guidelines are expected to keep SA at the forefront of ecologically-sustainable 
plantation forestry while providing a user-friendly guide for all areas of the forestry sector.

It has also been pleasing to note the contribution of our forestry volunteers and community program 
participants, who put in more than 33 000 hours’ work on environmental projects in our forest reserves. 
That fi gure is up by 12 000 hours on 2007-08, making for a very impressive effort.

PIRSA’s staff has a well-deserved reputation for its dedication, motivation and extensive knowledge base 
across many areas and I continue to be extremely proud of their efforts. I look forward to the challenges 
that the coming fi nancial year will bring and the innovative solutions that we will develop to deal with 
them. 

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive
Primary Industries and Resources SA
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Minister for Mineral Resources
Minister for Urban Development and Planning
Minister for Small Business

Hon. Paul Caica MP
Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
Minister for Forests
Minister for Industrial Relations
Minister for Regional Development

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive

Primary Industries and Resources
South Australia

Steve Archer
Deputy Chief Executive

Governance and Performance
(incorporating PIRSA Corporate)

Paul Heithersay
Deputy Chief Executive

Resources and Infrastructure
(incorporating Minerals and 

Energy Resources)

Don Plowman
Deputy Chief Executive

Primary Industries and Biosecurity
(incorporating Agriculture, 

Food and Wine)

Commercial Investment
Executive Director

Roger Hartley

Aquaculture
A/Executive Director
Heather Montgomerie

Fisheries
Executive Director

Will Zacharin

PIRSA Forestry
Executive Director

Stuart West

Rural Solutions SA
Executive Director

Locky McLaren

SA Research and 
Development Institute

Executive Director
Rob Lewis

Deputy Executive Director
Pauline Mooney
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P I R S A ’ S  R O L E

O R G A N I S A T I O N
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia is a key economic development agency of the South 
Australian Government.

PIRSA plays an important role in contributing to the sustainable planning and development of SA’s 
natural, industrial and community assets. PIRSA works with industry to manage resources sustainably and 
enhance value chains.

SA’s Strategic Plan targets form the basis of PIRSA’s role in fostering environmentally sustainable and 
internationally competitive industries. These targets include increasing exports to $25 billion by 2013, 
maintaining mining exploration investment at more than $100 million a year and boosting annual mineral 
production and processing to $4 billion by 2014.

PIRSA’s business activities are provided throughout SA and include:

• Agricultural and horticultural industry and policy development;

• Fisheries and aquaculture management and industry development;

• Minerals and petroleum exploration and development;

• Sustainable resources management, including soil, landcare and productive use of water;

• Delivering rural and remote community support services;

• Facilitating the application of new technologies, services, products and knowledge through its strong   
 partnerships with industry sectors, market intelligence, science and regional communities; and

• Providing research and development capability, delivering innovation to the food, fi bre and bioscience  
 industries and ecosystem sector.

P I R S A ’ S  V A L U E S
In undertaking our role we value:

Commitment – We are committed to responsible and sustainable industry and community 
development.

Collaboration – We collaborate through alliances and partnerships that encourage shared success.

Customer orientation – Our customer needs are met with a professional, fl exible, responsive and 
timely approach.

Achievement – Our environment and culture is results-focused, fosters trust and mutual respect and 
provides a safe working environment.

Innovation – We build our capabilities, new approaches, innovation and ideas, and continually strive for 
knowledge, understanding and smart use of new technologies.

People – We value the capabilities, experience and diversity that each of us brings to the organisation.

Empowerment and accountability – Our individuals and work teams are empowered and 
accountable, provide leadership and accept calculated risk.

Integrity – We are committed to honesty, integrity and the highest standards.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 9

H I G H L I G H T S
High l i gh t s  for  2008  -  09

A G R I C U L T U R E ,  F O O D  A N D  W I N E

• Worked closely with Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne on a ground-breaking study of
 food and wine supply chains in South Australia, including industry projects such as Vine to Dine.

• Continued to provide drought support measures to regional communities and industries, supported   
 by regional drought coordinators and the Premier’s Special Adviser on Drought.

• Delivered the Critical Water Allocations (CWA) program, providing an allocation of water for 1300   
 River Murray irrigators to guarantee the survival of permanent horticultural plantings.

• Supported nearly 1400 farm businesses to develop a business plan through the Planning for Recovery   
 program. 

• Continued to implement the SA Food Plan 2007-2010 pillars of market development, industry and   
 business capability development, innovation and product development.

• Maintained freedom from fruit fl y, with the Riverland’s fruit fl y-free status providing its horticulture   
 sector with signifi cant cold disinfestation cost savings.

• Drove food sector development through management of the SA Food Centre, in conjunction with the  
 Department of Trade and Economic Development (DTED), the Centre for Innovation and TAFE SA.

A Q U A C U L T U R E

• Completed aquaculture zone policies for Port Neil and Fitzgerald Bay Amendment.

• Released 215 ha of new aquaculture sites in Outer Arno Bay and Anxious Bay.

• Worked with the Department for Planning and Local Government to amend the Development 
 Regulations 2008 so that approval is no longer required for aquaculture activities within an 
 aquaculture zone contained in the Land Not Within a Council Area (Coastal Waters) Development   
 Plan. 

• Established a risk assessment model for licensing assessments.

C O M M E R C I A L  I N V E S T M E N T

• Managed the approvals process to develop a connecting road to support a Far West Coast mineral   
 sand mine development.

• Carried out an expression of interest (EOI) process that helped identify port and other mining 
 support opportunities for development at Port Bonython.

• Facilitated the delivery of an alternative irrigation water pipeline for the Langhorne Creek wine region.

• Facilitated discussion and negotiations on the requirements of the Penola Pulp Mill Authorisation Act   
 (2007).
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F I S H E R I E S

• Reviewed and extended export approvals for major commercial fi sheries under the Environment 
 Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cwlth).

• Advanced development of a co-management framework with major commercial fi shing industry
 groups, using the Spencer Gulf prawn fi shery as a case study. The project used funding from the 
 National Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (FRDC).

• Developed partnership arrangements with the Conservation Council of SA to undertake community
 engagement forums on fi sheries management issues.

• Progressed negotiations with several native title claim groups under the Indigenous Land Use 
 Agreement (ILUA) Framework.

• Completed ecological risk assessment reports for SA fi sheries and aquatic reserves, using the national
 ecologically sustainable development (ESD) risk assessment framework, in accordance with the 
 timetable set by the Fisheries Council.

• Developed draft management plans for fi sheries and aquatic reserves, in accordance with the timetable 
 set by the Fisheries Council.

• Developed a policy for the allocation of fi sheries resources between fi shing sectors in SA.

• Facilitated development of a value chain assessment project in the Spencer Gulf prawn fi shery, under
 the Premier’s Thinker in Residence Program.

M I N E R A L S  A N D  E N E R G Y  R E S O U R C E S

• The Fraser Institute of Canada’s 2008-09 survey of mining companies showed SA continued to 
 perform very well on the Mineral Potential Index, maintaining its top-10 ranking for the fourth year in   
 a row in an expanded survey of 70 jurisdictions.

• SA was named the least risky place in Australia to mine and ranked second on the international scale   
 in the ResourceStocks Magazine 2008 World Risk Mining Survey.

• Coordinated and facilitated consultations, assessments and approvals for new mining developments
 involving capital expenditure of about $1 billion, including:

 - Coordinating the public consultation, whole-of-government technical assessment and fi nal 
  conditions for mining and rehabilitation plan approvals for Iluka Resources’ Jacinth-Ambrosia heavy   
  mineral sands mine and Uranium One’s Honeymoon uranium mine.

 - Coordinating mineral lease approval for Hillgrove Resources’ Kanmantoo copper mine and 
  Centrex Metals’ Wilgerup iron ore mine. 

 - Facilitating federal approval of the Beverley Uranium Mine expansion and development of the 
  Four Mile uranium mine.

• Ongoing involvement with the assessment of BHP Billiton’s Olympic Dam expansion. The Olympic   
 Dam Expansion EIS report was released in May 2009, representing a key milestone in the project.

• Managed 803 mineral exploration licences in 2008-09, representing a total coverage of 396 240 sq km 
 of the state. 

• Seventeen mineral exploration licences have been approved in the  APY Lands. The licences total 
 20 449 sq km and are held by fi ve exploration companies.  A further six exploration licence applications
 are under review by the  APY Executive.
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O F F I C E  F O R  T H E  S O U T H E R N  S U B U R B S

The Offi ce for the Southern Suburbs became part of the Department of Planning and Local Government 
from 3 November 2008. Please consult that department’s annual report for the offi ce’s achievements for 
2008-09.

O F F I C E  F O R  S T A T E / L O C A L  

G O V E R N M E N T  R E L A T I O N S

The Offi ce for the State/Local Government Relations became part of the Department of Planning and 
Local Government from 3 November 2008. Please consult that department’s annual report for the offi ce’s 
achievements for 2008-09.

P I R S A  F O R E S T R Y

• Developed a statistical economic scorecard for the forest industry.

• Established the Forest Industry Development Board.

• Developed the new Guidelines for Plantation Forestry in South Australia 2009.

• Promoted Forestry Matters!, a major forest education resource to schools and the community.

• Contributed more than 33 000 hours through volunteers and community program participants to
 improve the social values and environmental services of the state’s forest reserves. This fi gure increased
 by more than 12 000 hours from 2007-08.

R U R A L  S O L U T I O N S  S A

• Delivered a pilot program for bushfi re safety workshops for women, in partnership with the SA 
 Country Fire Service. The project won a high commendation in the 2008 Safer Communities Award.

• Provided rehabilitation services to local government and mine operators to reduce environmental 
 problems caused by landfi ll and mining sites.

• Managed a piloted remote management system project aimed at reducing labour requirements on
 pastoral properties and increasing productivity and sustainability of the natural resources in the 
 Rangelands using individual animal management.

• Built bridges between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Australians through cultural awareness programs, 
 an initiative that resulted in a fi nals berth in the 2008 Premier’s Awards in the Building Communities
 category.

• Conducted technical and policy training delivery programs for 90 professionals from the Iraqi 
 Department of Agriculture in regional SA. 
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S A R D I

• Launched the $6.59 million expansion of the Lincoln Marine Science Centre. The centre is a focus for
 Marine Innovation South  Australia (MISA) research and education programs to underpin growth of the 
 seafood industry.

• Delivered workshops and a manual capturing new developments in disease management and testing to
 address preventable soil-borne diseases that cost Australian cereal and pea growers up to $300 million
 a year.

• Established Australia’s largest viticulture irrigation trial in partnership with Yalumba Nurseries, which
 will provide insights into protecting critical vineyard assets during drought should production be shut
 down, as well as knowledge on restoring crops to commercial production.

• Completed a major analysis of low-rainfall farming on Eyre Peninsula, presented at ABARE’s national
 conference. The study modelled climate scenarios through to 2030 and identifi ed the features of 
 successful farming businesses that are strongly positioned for the future.

• Improved the resilience of agricultural and horticultural industries to climatic and environmental 
 stresses through investigations aimed at improving heat tolerance and water use effi ciency.

A G E N C Y  S U P P O R T

• Conducted a review of business support services in order to improve effi ciency and cost-effectiveness.

• Produced 2008-09 State ScoreCards for the agrifood, wine and minerals areas.

• Developed an online training module consistent with the whole-of-government Disability Awareness
 and Discrimination Training Framework.

G E N E R A L

PIRSA Executive continued to meet regularly in country areas, providing the opportunity to see the results 
of policies and projects and gain feedback from PIRSA staff, leaders of industry and community, primary 
producers, local government bodies and other key stakeholders.

In 2008-09, Executive visited the Upper Eyre Peninsula, Upper Spencer Gulf and Kangaroo Island.
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T H E  Y E A R  A H E A D
Some impor tan t  pro jec t s  and  cha l l enges  for  2009 -10

A G R I C U L T U R E ,  F O O D  A N D  W I N E
• Implement the recommendations of the report by Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne into  
 food and wine value chains in South Australia.

• Ongoing development and delivery of a range of workshops and seminars targeting food sector 
 executives, aimed at increasing the capability and capacity of the SA food industry in business and 
 technical areas.

• Implement the new Plant Health Act 2009 and regulations, including registration of all importers of
 plants and plant products and accreditation of importers and exporters.

• Establish consistency with national protocols for auditor management in food safety regulation.

• Establish a new Biosecurity Division and realign the structure and reporting arrangements within 
 Animal Health.

• Collaborate with the Commonwealth and other states to implement the recommendations of the
 Productivity Commission Research Report on Chemicals and Plastics Regulation.

• Identify the occupations and knowledge areas that will be critical to the agrifood sector in the future
 and tailor education and training programs to meet these needs.

• Contribute to the fi nalisation and implementation of the new Agrifood Strategy 2010-14.

• Facilitate a strategic analysis of challenges and opportunities for irrigated agriculture and its dependent
 communities along the River Murray.

A Q U A C U L T U R E
• Complete aquaculture zone policies for Rivoli Bay, Eastern Spencer Gulf Amendment, Lower Eyre 
 Peninsula, Louth Bay Amendment and Revocation Policy.

• Continue to develop new aquaculture zones using scientifi c investigation and research.

• Commence Aquaculture Act amendment process (incorporating public consultation).

• Commence amendment of Aquaculture Regulations 2005.

C O M M E R C I A L  I N V E S T M E N T
• Ongoing facilitation of the Buckland Park residential development through to consideration of the
 environmental impact statement (EIS) and the development plan amendment (DPA).

• Continue to facilitate development in Port Bonython to support mining exports.

• Establish the Immersive Operator Training School for the mining sector.

• Support the growth of the aquaculture sector in SA by assisting in the development of:

 - land-based activities using water from the Woolpunda Salt Interception Scheme through an 
  EOI process;

 - a commercial boat harbour at Fitzgerald Bay.
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F I S H E R I E S

• Complete the SA Recreational Fishing Survey Report.

• Develop a comprehensive management strategy to promote sustainable growth and development of
 the recreational fi shing sector in SA.

• Develop a policy framework to establish strategic policy directions for fi sheries in SA, under the 
 revised fi sheries legislation.

• Continue to develop indigenous fi sheries management plans from a negotiated indigenous land use
  agreement (ILUA).

M I N E R A L S  A N D  E N E R G Y  R E S O U R C E S

• Maintain exploration expenditure levels above the SA Strategic Plan target of $100 million.

• Continue to increase SA’s share of national exploration expenditure to levels surpassed only by WA.

• Continue to increase SA’s world ranking for mineral potential and maintain our position as a national
 leader.

• Continue to be the principal contributor to SA exports and increase the proportion of total state
 merchandise exports.

• Grant additional exploration licences in the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands.

• Facilitate at least two mining developments to achieve fi nal approvals and move into construction.

P I R S A  F O R E S T R Y

• Assist the Forest Industry Development Board in developing an interim Forest Industry Strategic Plan
 through public consultation.

• Encourage carbon sequestration by facilitating investment in plantations, as well as small-scale and 
 farm-based forests.

R U R A L  S O L U T I O N S  S A

• Improve the competitiveness of SA industry value chains by delivering a wide range of services to the
 fi eld crop, livestock, horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture industries.

• Deliver a range of environmental management services, including revegetation, animal and plant control, 
 soil, land and water management and rangeland assessment as part of integrated environmental 
 solutions on behalf of the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation (DWLBC) and
 commercial customers.

• Develop services supporting structural change in regional communities, social research and stakeholder
 engagement, planning for communities, industries and businesses and training and change management.
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S A R D I

• Contribute to the national Primary Industries Standing Committee research reform, focusing on areas of
 strategic importance to the state that align with national research, development and extension agendas
 and industry development priorities:

 - Lead national research programs for the pig, poultry, grain, wine grape, aquatics and fi sheries 
  industries and on cross-sector impacts of climate variability, risk management and biosecurity;  

 - Progress the development of an aquatic research alliance with Victoria;

 - Identify and cultivate science programs that provide scope to address emerging opportunities and 
  challenges.

• Capture opportunities for economic growth in the agrifood sector that lie beyond the farm gate through
  projects designed to boost capacity in areas such as product development, process innovation, value-
 adding, cool chain management, market access and the development of foods that offer heightened 
 sensory appeal.

• Assist irrigated agriculture to contend with declining water supply and quality due to climate shift by:

 - Developing tools to help manage and monitor salinity under increasingly saline conditions;

 - Identifying approaches that maintain optimal production and quality under restricted irrigation 
  regimes.

A G E N C Y  S U P P O R T

• Progressively implement the new integrated model for the provision of agency support initiatives.

• Implement the Aboriginal Scholarship Program.

• Promulgate value chain thinking and understanding in PIRSA and beyond in alignment with 
 recommendations from Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne.

G E N E R A L

PIRSA will continue to place strong emphasis on industry and community partnerships and on cementing 
sustainable development as one of its core values.
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P E R F O R M A N C E  S U M M A R Y

A G R I C U L T U R E ,  F O O D  A N D  W I N E

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.2)

• INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS (T1.4)

• BUSINESS INVESTMENT (T1.5)

• LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY (T1.6)

• UNEMPLOYMENT (T1.11)

• PERFORMANCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR (T1.7, T1.8, T1.9)

• JOBS (T1.10)

• EMPLOYMENT PARTICIPATION (T1.12)

• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14)

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

OBJECTIVE 2 – IMPROVING WELLBEING

• HEALTHY SOUTH  AUSTRALIANS (T2.4)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

• SOIL PROTECTION (T3.3)

• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5)

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)

• SUSTAINABLE WATER SUPPLY (T3.9)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• BUSINESS INNOVATION (T4.7)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES

• BOARDS AND COMMITTEES (T5.1 ,T5.2)

• VOLUNTEERING (T5.6)

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9)

OBJECTIVE 6 - EXPANDING OPPORTUNITY

• SCIENCE AND MATHS (T6.17)

• NON-SCHOOL QUALIFICATIONS (T6.19)

• HIGHER EDUCATION (T6.20)

• VET PARTICIPATION  (T6.21)
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The Agriculture, Food and Wine Division develops and implements policies, legislation, regulatory 
frameworks and programs to promote an optimal business, natural and social environment within which 
primary industries can grow and prosper.

Key  ob jec t i ve s  a re  to :
• Maintain and improve agricultural industry response and capacity to safeguard export and domestic
 markets and the industry base in SA, with particular emphasis on preparedness and response to animal
 and plant disease incursions;

• Maximise investment in education, training and other innovative capacity-building initiatives;

• Contribute to multi-agency development of the integrated natural resources management framework
 to deliver effective programs to repair, restore and enhance the state’s natural assets;

• Increase the number and value of value-added products and processes in the food and fi bre industries;
 and

• Facilitate the development of internationally-competitive export services.

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

A N I M A L  H E A L T H
• Ongoing improvement in endemic disease control programs, including:

 - Bovine Johne’s disease (BJD) – 98% of the state’s dairy herds are now enrolled in Dairy ManaJD and
  72% of these have tested negative. Dairy Score is now used by both dairy and beef producers.

 - SA is the only jurisdiction to record a reduction in prevalence of ovine Johne’s disease (OJD), down
  from 13% fi ve years ago to an estimated 0.2% on the mainland and 3% on Kangaroo Island.

 - Agreement was reached to eradicate enzootic bovine leucosis (EBL) from the national dairy herd
  by 2015. There were no confi rmed infected herds in SA as at  June 2009.

 - Footrot and sheep lice detections continue to be low.  Animal Health collaborated with the 
  University of Sydney on a successful three-year footrot vaccine trial on six properties across the
  state.

 - Continued implementation of the Honeybee Industry Strategic Plan 2006-10, including the
  BeeSmart AFB program to control American foul brood. 

• Conducted a pestivirus survey of the SA beef and dairy cattle populations and extended an ovine 
 brucellosis survey to the Eyre Peninsula.

• Ongoing surveillance for targeted diseases including transmissible spongiform encephalopathy, equine
 infl uenza and avian infl uenza.  Australia was declared free of equine infl uenza by the World Organisation
 for Animal Health (OIE) after 12 months of negative monitoring.

• Ongoing focus on emergency management training, including implementing BioSIRT, a new national
 emergency disease response database.

• Contributed to the continuing development of the National Livestock Identifi cation System (NLIS),
 including improving database transfer compliance for property-to-property cattle movements.

• Contributed to improvements in animal welfare standards, including the development of Pig Welfare
 Standards and the enactment of the new national Livestock Transport Standards.

• Contributed to Australia being declared free from equine infl uenza by the World Organisation for   
 Animal Health (OIE) after 12 months of negative tests. 

• Contributed to the national enactment of the new Livestock Transport Standards.
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E M E R G E N C Y  M A N A G E M E N T  

C O O R D I N A T I O N
• Procured a mobile communications unit to improve the effectiveness of PIRSA’s response to an 
 emergency incident.

• Coordinated and delivered four nationally accredited emergency management competency training
 courses to 75 PIRSA staff.

• Facilitated two research projects undertaken by SARDI and the Bushfi re Cooperative Research Centre
 into the effects of current farming practices on bushfi re risk and prevention.

• Coordinated the development of a PIRSA emergency response website.

• Facilitated the fi rst discussion exercise in Australia to consider implementing the national response   
 plan for an incursion of Asian gypsy moth.

• Developed an agency-wide emergency communications plan.

F O O D  A N D  P L A N T  S T A N D A R D S
• Supported development of national food safety standards for eggs, sprouts, meat and poultry. 

• Explored international shellfi sh monitoring requirements to assist in enhancing export opportunities
 for SA-produced shellfi sh.

• Maintained a statewide fruit fl y program that ensured there were no outbreaks in the past year.

• Implemented a nationally agreed Listeria management program in the ready-to-eat meat sector.

• Undertook microbiological assessments of the potential hazards in the egg and poultry supply chain.

• Amended the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) (Dairy Industry) Regulations 2005 to adopt 
 the new national food safety standard for dairy products.

F O O D  R E G U L A T I O N S  P O L I C Y
• Commenced consultation on the development of egg and seed sprout regulations. 

• Supported promotion of food innovation and growth through the development of policy initiatives and
 the review of Food Standards by the Australia and New Zealand Food Regulation Ministerial Council.

• Continued to maintain and enhance food safety schemes to support the excellent reputation of SA’s
 primary production and processing industries.

• Demonstrated compliance to nationally-agreed protocols for shellfi sh monitoring. 

• Achieved 10 years of certifi cation for the ISO international quality standard for the food safety 
 regulatory management system.

P R E M I E R ’ S  F O O D  C O U N C I L
• Formalised a new structure in early 2008 that organised the council into three sub-groups.

• Strongly supported and provided leadership in the establishment of the SA Food Centre, which was
 launched by the Premier in September 2008.

• Tackled joint issues with the Food and Wine Issues Group, including workforce development, recycled
 water, primary production areas and planning.

• Strengthened linkages between the Premier’s Food Council and the Industry Development Boards with
 the creation of the Agrifood Forum.
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G R A P E  A N D  W I N E

• Appointed 11 new members to the SA Wine Industry Council, to ensure a greater representation of
 marketing and tourism skills and better representation of the full wine value chain.

• Commissioned the development of advice on the tax advantages of managed investment schemes in
 the wine industry. 

• Funded research into the impacts of smoke taint on vineyards and wine for the SA wine industry.

• Initiated the PIRSA Grape and Wine Regional Roadshows to raise awareness of the SA Wine Industry
 Council and to engage with wider industry. 

• Continued a whole-of-government approach to addressing wine industry development and 
 implementing the partnering strategy. 

• Supported the development and implementation of the Wine Australia Regional Heroes program, 
 bringing 12 international guests from the UK, Ireland and Canada to visit SA wine regions to enhance
 the reputation of SA wine. 

• Facilitated and supported the SA wine industry’s involvement in and uptake of the Wine Industry Sector
  Agreement, as part of the Climate Change and Greenhouse Emissions Reduction Act 2007. 

• Hosted a delegation of sommeliers from China and Hong Kong to promote SA wines. 

• Provided support and administration to the following Wine Industry Funds established under the 
 Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998:

 - SA Grape Growers’ Industry Fund;

 - Barossa Wine Industry Fund;

 - Clare Wine Industry Fund;

 - Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund;

 - McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund;

 - Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund; and

 - Riverland Wine Industry Fund. 

• Initiated the development of a new strategic partnership between government and the wine industry   
 to succeed the strategy, “Wine: A Partnership 2005-2010”.

• Facilitated a wine delegation to Canada, led by the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries and
 focusing on maintaining and building relationships with key liquor control board executives and 
 promoting premium SA wines.

G R A I N S

• Conducted grains industry assessments for supply-side capacity, demand drivers and related operational
 and strategic rate limiters in sectors including pasta, malt and co-products, bakery, wholegrain foods,
 food oils and animal feed.

• Appointed a grains industry biosecurity offi cer as part of the Plant Health Australia National Grains
 Biosecurity Network, developing on-farm biosecurity strategies and workshops for farmers.

• Ongoing support to drought response and climate change programs.
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H O R T I C U L T U R E
• Implemented the collection process for the Primary Industry Funding Schemes (Olive Industry Fund)
 Regulations 2009.

• Reviewed the Citrus Industry Act 2005.

• Provided support to SA Health to implement and expand the “Go for 2&5” program to increase 
 consumption of fruit and vegetables.

• Organised work placements for 16 students taking part in the GrowSmart program to experience the
 application of scientifi c skills in jobs throughout PIRSA.

• Continued to investigate options for the increased utilisation of Bolivar wastewater for horticulture on
 the  Adelaide Plains.

L I V E S T O C K
• Collaborated with industry development boards and reviewed the Beef and Sheep Industry Strategic
 Plans. 

• Continued to provide executive support for the livestock industry development boards.

• Case managed signifi cant projects associated with the sheep, beef and chicken meat industries.

• Commenced a major SA Sheep Industry Communications Solutions Project, in collaboration with key
 industry organisations, to develop a targeted sheep industry communication strategy and 
 implementation plan.

• Worked with the SA Lamb Development Team to review its constitution and shift its focus from only
 lamb production to the sheep industry value chain. 

• Continued to work with the Young Guns project, which has established seven young sheep producer
 groups across the state.

• Coordinated the delivery of two Meat and Livestock Australia and Australian Wool Innovation best
 practice programs, More Beef from Pastures and Making More from Sheep Meat.

• Provided executive support for the SA Beef Development Team and Beef CRC Beef Profi t Partnerships
 Groups. 

• Supported the Ignite Young Agrifood Entrepreneurs Program, with the Offi ce for Youth, by sitting on the
 program advisory committee and mentoring participants.

• Investigated sites with appropriate infrastructure suitable for the development of chicken meat farms.

• Managed a regional high school poultry science competition for the World Poultry Science Association. 

• Contributed to review of National Environmental Guidelines for Piggeries, incorporating a locally-
 developed modifi cation to separation distance methodology.

• Developed training and biosecurity protocols for the RSPCA’s intensive farming inspectors.

• Advised the SA Environment Protection Authority on draft guidelines including Waste-Derived Soil
 Enhancers, Handling of Biosolids and Water Quality.

• Advised Barossa Council on a development plan amendment.

• Participated in the Lake Albert Management Technical Working Group and Narrung-Meningie pipeline
 development.

• Negotiated with SA Water, resulting in increased access to water for Monarto-based poultry farms and
 developers.
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F O O D  A N D  B U S I N E S S  I N N O V A T I O N

• Worked closely with Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne on a ground-breaking study of
 food and wine supply chains in South Australia, including industry projects such as Vine to Dine.

• Implemented a capability development program focusing on strong growth through strategic 
 market-based planning and best practice. 

• Delivered an innovation and new product program using the expertise of the SA Food Centre to assist
 the food industry with technical issues.

• Conducted a range of business and technical workshops and seminars to support businesses seeking to
 grow and develop new markets.

• Delivered the Graduate Access Program to facilitate new projects and encourage skills translation into
 the food sector.

• Continued development and delivery of a range of business management education and skills 
 programs targeting the SA food industry.

• Implemented a food sector executive skills program. 

• Established a Sustainable Value Chain Development Unit.

• Completed the “Vine to Dine” research project, a study that investigated the economic and 
 environmental impacts of selling SA wine in the key market of the United Kingdom.

M A R K E T  D E V E L O P M E N T

• Hosted the 11th Annual Premier’s Food Awards, which celebrate and recognise excellence in SA’s food
 industry. 

• Published market summaries for the SA food and seafood sectors and fi nalised work on market 
 summaries for the horticulture and dairy sectors.

• Contributed to the mid-term review of the SA Food Plan 2007-10, with all performance indicators 
 for the program having been met or exceeded. 

• Began redeveloping the SA Food Centre website.

• Entered into a one-year agreement with the French Chapter of Euro-Toques. The agreement has been
 extended for another year, giving SA food companies exposure to a network of more than 4000 
 European chefs.

• Implemented a market development program with DTED. 

• Resumed quarterly publication of Food Talk magazine, which achieved its highest recorded readership.

• Contributed to the development of the SA Agrifood Strategy, which aims to facilitate continued 
 sustainable growth in the value of the agrifood sector during 2010-2014.

• Established the Market Intelligence Unit and completed market summary reports into the SA food and  
 seafood industries. 

• Sponsored and organised fi lming across SA, in conjunction with DTED, for Asia TV’s  new program
 Superb Travel and Dining, showcasing SA and its produce to a Hong Kong and southern Chinese 
 audience.
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P L A N T  H E A L T H  P O L I C Y

• Made signifi cant contribution to the new Plant Health Act 2009, which was passed by Parliament and   
 assented to by His Excellency, the Governor.

• Contributed to national consideration of, and emergency responses to, incursions of plant pests.

R U R A L  C H E M I C A L S

• Contributed to the development of the state’s response to the Productivity Commission Research
  Report on Chemicals and Plastics Regulation.

• Developed a formal case management process for investigations into misuse of agricultural pesticides
  and veterinary medicines.

• Surveyed farmers on their herbicide use practices for summer weed control and audited users of 1080
 baits for fox control.

• Progressed the development of a planning guide on managing the interface between agriculture and
 urban land.

S U S T A I N A B L E  S Y S T E M S

• Conducted two workshops –The Water Game:  A New Playing Field and New Rules for Primary 
 Industries – to identify the areas where policy and research needed to be aligned and linked to 
 underpin the sustainability of water-reliant primary industries in SA.

• Established the Ignite program, with the Offi ce for Youth, for young people involved in innovative
 agrifood enterprises. The program included establishing four regional clusters in Clare, Naracoorte,
 Murray Bridge and Kangaroo Island to enable participants to develop the skills, networks and support
 necessary to establish and expand agri-enterprises that are commercially and environmentally 
 sustainable and innovative. 

• Held the second Drought Youth Leadership Program in 2008 with 21 young farmers now having 
 completed the program and formed a network across the state. 

• Established the Riverland Futures Task Force, in partnership with DTED.

W O R K F O R C E  D E V E L O P M E N T

• Developed clear pathways through vocational and higher education to careers in the agrifood sector
 for students leaving secondary school.

• Improved levels of on-the-job training to support innovation and productivity improvements.

• Improved coordination of workforce planning, development and participation activity at a regional level.

• Consulted extensively with industry and government in the development of an agrifood industry   
 workforce action plan.

• Created a new cost-of-production spreadsheet to support enterprise development in the chicken   
 meat industry.
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T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0
• Continue support for and input into drought and water policy, including the Drought Response 
 program.

• Launch the Water Intensive Development web portal, designed to attract investment to SA and provide
 a transparent development pathway to assist prospective investors in water-dependent industries
 across the state.

• Establish regional coordinator positions for the Murray Mallee and Upper South East regions to provide
 a link between farmers and communities in need of support and access to appropriate the service 
 providers.

• Support the SA Rural Women’s Gathering, to be held in Mount Gambier in August 2009 and addressed
 by the Governor-General. The event is expected to attract more than 400 rural women from across
 SA.

• Continue to provide support during the introduction of the Plant Health Act 2009.

• Deliver a food innovation program that links market opportunity, best practice and new product 
 development.

• Ongoing delivery of a business growth program, in conjunction with Food Centre partners, to enable
 food businesses to access the expertise needed for sustained growth.

• Publish market intelligence reports on key agribusiness sectors, highlighting trade patterns and trends
 and comparative market positions in the top global markets.

• Contribute market intelligence to the National Lamb Value Chain program and other value chain 
 projects as required.

• Complete the redevelopment of the SA Food Centre website.

• Manage the 12th Annual Premier’s Food Awards to continue the celebration of the success of SA food
 businesses.

• Continue to implement best practice programs for the SA food sector to develop internationally
 competitive operations and management systems.

• Implementation of a food sector education and skills working group, to support the development of the
 SA food industry.

• Continue to implement the SA Food Centre’s technical program, with an ongoing focus on innovation
 and new product development, including delivering the Innovation Showcase program in partnership
 with the Centre for Innovation.

• Lead and report on fi ndings of the National Lamb Value Chain Project, endorsed by the Primary 
 Industries Ministerial Council in mid-2009.

• Develop and implement a toolkit, training package and service portfolio on sustainable value chain
 analysis and value chain thinking.

• Develop and implement a communications strategy for the Vine to Dine project, to raise awareness in
 the wine industry of the study’s fi ndings.

• Work with the SA Wine Industry Council, the greater wine sector and other key stakeholders to 
 develop a new strategic partnership plan for the SA wine industry.

• Assist the SA wine industry with market intelligence, both with supply- and demand-related 
 information.

• Continue to collaborate with wine industry stakeholders to further enhance the reputation of the SA
 wine industry.
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• Develop a strategy for integrating value chain thinking and concepts into various levels of education and
 training courses.

• Use the insights of Adelaide Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne to implement 
 recommendations and further establish wine value chain projects. 

• Effectively case manage major investment projects in the meat production and processing sectors.

• Support the development of value chain projects across livestock industries that are responsive to 
 consumers needs.

• Deliver best practice and innovation programs to drive food industry growth.

• Develop a Farming Code of Practice for the Reduction of Bushfi re Risk with a particular focus on 
 grain growers.

• Contribute to the review and modifi cation of community information and risk assessment during 
 extreme weather conditions through the State Emergency Management Committee Bushfi re Task
 Force.

• Participate in the development of the State Government’s response to the fi ndings of the 2009 
 Victorian Bushfi res Royal Commission.

• Coordinate an emergency simulation exercise incorporating the operation of the national Biosecurity
 Surveillance Incident Response and Tracing System (BioSirt).

• Establish Food Safety Scheme regulations under the Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004
 for the egg and seed sprout industries.

• Provide ongoing support to develop national standards for animal stockfeed.

• Continue development of process control improvements in stockfeed mills aimed at Salmonella 
 control.

• Review the Livestock Act 1997.

• Finalise guidelines for local government and release an implementation plan on reducing pesticide 
 exposure, fulfi lling a recommendation of the Social Development Committee of the Parliament of 
 SA Inquiry into Multiple Chemical Sensitivity.

• Convene a Grains Industry Development Forum to discuss grain industry issues, opportunities, 
 constraints and the future context of industry operations in SA.

• Establish a grain industry roundtable council to engage with government on issues faced by the 
 grain production, bulk commodity export and grain processing industries.

• Identify and develop opportunities for a new grains industry development and renewal program.

• Develop a grain industry/government partnership plan to establish industry and government roles and
 focus industry development, environmental and social targets.

• Launch the SA Horticulture Market Summary, the SA Dairy Market Summary and the SA Grains
 Market Summary and contribute market intelligence to value chain projects including the National
 Lamb Value Chain program.

• Coordinate a review into management of market access issues across PIRSA.

• Manage a visit to SA by a group of French chefs.

• Raise awareness of amendments to the Primary Industry Funding Schemes (Citrus Growers Fund)
 Regulations 2005, which reduce the rate of contribution following the establishment of a new national
 industry body.

• Launch a website to attract investment to irrigated horticulture, developed in conjunction with the
 Limestone Coast Regional Development Board.
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A Q U A C U L T U R E

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• BUSINESS INVESTMENTS (T1.5)

• JOBS (T1.10)

• EXPORTS (T1.12)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY AND INNOVATION

• BUSINESS EXPENDITURE (T4.11)

OBJECTIVE 5 – BUILDING COMMUNITIES

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9) 

The Aquaculture Division is responsible for ensuring the sustainable development of SA’s aquaculture 
industry and has a statutory and regulatory responsibility for the planning and management of aquaculture. 
These responsibilities are met through zoning, future management and granting of leases and licences under 
the  Aquaculture Act 2001.

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9
• Completed Aquaculture Zone policies for Port Neil and Fitzgerald Bay Amendment.

• Released 215 ha of new aquaculture sites in Outer Arno Bay and Anxious Bay.

• Worked with the Department for Planning and Local Government to amend the Development 
 Regulations 2008 so that approval is no longer required for aquaculture activities within an aquaculture
 zone contained in the Land Not Within a Council Area (Coastal Waters) Development Plan. 

• Produced a DVD to promote the SA aquaculture industry.

• Introduced Aquascope, a quarterly aquaculture newsletter distributed to lease- and licence-holders and
 other stakeholders.

• Established a risk assessment model for licence assessments.

T A R G E T S  2 0 0 9 - 1 0
• Complete aquaculture zone policies for Rivoli Bay, Eastern Spencer Gulf Amendment, Lower Eyre 
 Peninsula, Louth Bay Amendment and Revocation Policy.

• Finalise a program to address aquaculture biosecurity risks.

• Commence the Aquaculture Act amendment process, including public consultation.

• Commence amendment of the Aquaculture Regulations 2005.

• Initiate new projects to further address aquatic biosecurity.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 26

C O M M E R C I A L  I N V E S T M E N T

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14)

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

The Commercial Investment Division has the primary case management role in PIRSA for creating, leading 
and facilitating major investment opportunities that generate signifi cant commercial outcomes for primary 
industries and resources consistent with State Strategic Plan objectives. Specifi c objectives include:

• Growing exports and enhancing value adding;

• Promoting sustainable enterprises that expand regional employment opportunities;

• Removing structural impediments to growth;

• Seeking better use of existing infrastructure and where necessary augmentation with fi t-for-purpose
 innovative infrastructure solutions; and

• Promoting industry growth by linking with other core government initiatives.

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9
• Facilitated a road transport link to support a $450 million mineral sand mine development on the Far
 West Coast, including the development of options, analysis and securing approvals. On-site 
 construction has since commenced.

• Assisted in developing an expression of interest and strategies to determine the commercial 
 development opportunity for a proposed port at Port Bonython.

• Played a major role in facilitating the Langhorne Creek irrigation pipeline, including fi nalising design and
 engineering requirements, undertaking preliminary procurement and submitting a business case to the
 Commonwealth. Construction began on 5 May 2009.

• Continued to facilitate the Penola Pulp Mill, including identifying the requirements for opening the South
 East rail network and drafting environment protection and biodiversity conservation referrals on access
 to the mill site.

• Facilitated the Buckland Park residential development, including interaction between the developer and
 government during the environmental impact statement (EIS) development and culminating in public
 exhibition of the EIS.

• Supported state drought response activities through a range of measures, including continued 
 emergency dredging for irrigators and other commercial water users.

• Represented SA on the National Research, Development and Extension Subcommittee of Primary
 Industries Standing Committee.

• Managed and led the continued development of the wine and grape strategy.

• Facilitated the SA Natural Resource Management (NRM) Alliance to maximise the accessibility and
 value of NRM knowledge and research.

• Completed the initial sector review of the Australian wine industry under the National Primary 
 Industries Research, Development and Extension Framework.
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• Assisted in securing land for a $90 million solar energy development in SA and prepared the investor to
 submit an application to the Commonwealth Government’s Renewable Energy Demonstration 
 Program.

• Supported ongoing emergency dredging procedures required by continuing drought conditions.

T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0
• Complete the irrigation water pipeline to Langhorne Creek and Currency Creek wine regions.

• Work towards securing more port and mining developments for the Port Bonython area.

• Continue to work with the Resources and Energy Sector Infrastructure Council (RESIC).

• Establish the Immersive Operator Training School for the mining sector.

• Identify and facilitate investment opportunities for regional airports and associated infrastructure.

• Facilitate the wine, pork, poultry and seafood industry strategies under the Primary Industries Research, 
 Development and Extension Framework.

• Support the growth of the SA aquaculture sector by assisting in the development of:

 - land-based activities using water from the Woolpunda Salt Interception Scheme through an 
  expression of interest (EOI) process;

 - a commercial boat harbour at Fitzgerald Bay.

• Continue to attract investment in renewable energy to secure large-scale solar energy park 
 developments for SA.

• Ongoing facilitation of the Buckland Park development to the EIS and DPA stage.

• Ongoing facilitation of the Penola pulp mill project.
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F I S H E R I E S

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.12)

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)

The Fisheries Division provides specialist services and advice to support ecologically sustainable 
development of the state’s aquatic resources.

The Fisheries Division is responsible for the management and administration of the living marine and 
freshwater resources of SA, as required under the Fisheries Management Act 2007. This includes: 

 • the development and implementation of appropriate management plans for commercial, 
  recreational, charter and Aboriginal traditional fi shing; 

 • development of government policy for sustainable resource access and allocation; and 

 • the administration of licensing and compliance services. 

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9
• Maintained quality certifi cation to AS/NZS 9001:2000 Quality Management Systems requirements for
 the entire PIRSA Fisheries Division.

• Secured future export approvals for all major fi sheries in SA under the EPBC Act 1999 (Cwlth).

• Advanced a co-management framework, using the Spencer Gulf prawn fi shery as a case study for all 
 SA fi sheries.

• Produced annual economic performance reports for all the state’s major fi sheries.

• Facilitated development of a value chain assessment project to help underpin growth in production
 value in the Spencer Gulf prawn fi shery, under the Premier’s Thinker in Residence Program.

• Promoted increased prawn production and value in the Gulf St Vincent prawn fi shery through 
 development and implementation of a stock recovery strategy.

• Continued negotiations with native title claim groups to develop traditional fi sheries access under the
 indigenous land use agreement (ILUA) framework.

• Developed fi sheries and aquatic reserve management plans in accordance with the timetable 
 established by the Fisheries Council.

• Conducted ecological risk assessments for fi sheries and aquatic reserves, using the national 
 environmentally-sustainable development (ESD) reporting framework and in accordance with the 
 timetable established by the Fisheries Council.

• Continued to implement the national system for the management of introduced marine pests.

• Maintained an effective control program for Caulerpa taxifolia in the Port River.

• Took part in the development of the South-Eastern Australia Collaborative Program for 
 Climate Change Adaptation in Fisheries and Aquaculture.

• Implemented outcomes and recommendations from the review of fi sheries compliance services.

• Implemented a demerit point system for all fi sheries under the Fisheries Management Act 2007.

• Developed a web-based ‘atlas’ to communicate the recreational fi sheries survey information to the 
 wider community.
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• Took part in the development of the South-Eastern Australia Collaborative Program for Climate
  Change Adaptation in Fisheries and Aquaculture.

• Supported the SA rock lobster fi shery industry in market development activities through involvement
 in the tri-state Southern Rock Lobster Ltd process.

• Introduced a system of individual transferable quota in the pipi and mud cockle fi sheries.

• Contributed to the development of the National Ornamental Fisheries Management Strategy and 
 commenced implementation in SA.

• Continued implementation of the Murray-Darling Basin Association (MDBA) Native Fish Strategy in SA.

• Developed a management plan template for the Aboriginal traditional fi shing sector in SA.

• Continued to implement the national system for the management of introduced marine pests.

• Developed and implemented a cross-agency emergency response plan to address the potential threat of 
 disease outbreaks in the SA abalone fi shery.

T A R G E T S  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Develop a comprehensive management strategy to promote ecologically-sustainable growth and 
 development of the state’s recreational fi shing sector.

• Develop a policy framework to establish the strategic directions for fi sheries in SA, under the revised
 fi sheries legislation.

• Extend export approvals for all major fi sheries under the Environment Protection and Biodiversity
 Conservation Act 1999 (Cwlth).

• Develop a formal co-management policy framework for SA fi sheries.

• Finalise an allocation framework for SA fi sheries.

• Develop Aboriginal traditional fi sheries management plans through negotiation, using the indigenous
 land use agreement (ILUA) framework.

• Conduct ESD risk assessments and develop management plans for SA fi sheries and aquatic reserves, in
 accordance with the timetable set by the Fisheries Council.

• Review the economic performance assessment framework for SA fi sheries

• Develop stock recovery strategies for fi sheries that are classifi ed as overfi shed.

• Continue to participate in the South-Eastern Australia Collaborative Program for Climate Change
  Adaptation in Fisheries and Aquaculture.

• Develop a structured fi sheries management decision-making framework to provide clarity to all 
 stakeholder groups.

• Finalise a co-management framework for all SA fi sheries and promote uptake and implementation of
 the framework with major commercial fi shing industry groups.

• Implement possession limits for selected recreational fi shing species.

• Begin a review of all fi shing rules with a view to simplifying, standardising and providing a basis to move
 to e-licensing within three years.
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M I N E R A L S  A N D  E N E R G Y  R E S O U R C E S

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1)

• COMPETITIVE BUSINESS CLIMATE (T1.2)

• BUSINESS INVESTMENT (T1.5)

• PERFORMANCE IN THE PUBLIC SECTOR (T1.7, T1.8, T1.9)

• JOBS (T1.10)

• MINERALS EXPLORATION (T1.17)

• MINERALS PRODUCTION (T1.18)

• MINERALS PROCESSING (T.19)

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (T1.21)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

• NO SPECIES LOSS (T3.1)

• MARINE BIODIVERSITY (T3.4)

• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5)

• ECOLOGICAL FOOTPRINT (T3.7)

• ZERO WASTE (T3.8)

• RENEWABLE ENERGY (T3.12)

• ABORIGINAL LANDS (T3.15)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• CREATIVE INDUSTRIES (T4.1)

• BUSINESS INNOVATION (T4.7)

• AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE (T4.10)

• BUSINESS EXPENDITURE (T4.11)

OBJECTIVE 6 – EXPANDING OPPORTUNITIES

• HIGHER EDUCATION (T6.20)
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M I N E R A L  R E S O U R C E S

The Mineral Resources Group manages the state’s mineral resources on behalf of all South Australians by:

• Regulating mining operations;

• Implementing signifi cant exploration initiatives;

• Providing comprehensive, high-quality geoscientifi c data and advice;

• Developing sustainable practices for exploration and mining;

• Facilitating mineral resource projects through approval processes;

• Developing an effective and effi cient policy and legislative framework; and

• Collecting mineral royalties and fees. 

The Mineral Resources Group’s vision is to make SA the favoured location for private mineral investment, 
with exploration expenditure to be maintained at more than $100 million per annum until 2010, and mineral 
production and processing to reach $4 billion by 2020.

The Mineral Resources Group is the lead agency facilitating ecologically sustainable mineral exploration 
production and development in SA.

M I N E R A L  E X P L O R A T I O N  A C T I V I T Y

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Maintained exploration expenditure above the SA Strategic Plan target of $100 million a year. 
 Exploration expenditure for 2008-09 dropped to $274.2 million, or 11.4% of the national total, 
 refl ecting the impact of the current global fi nancial crisis.

• Maintained third place on the national mineral exploration scale, behind mining giant WA with $1353.2
 million in exploration and Queensland with $399.8 million in exploration.

• Maintained strong global confi dence in SA’s mineral potential, with the state retaining its top 10 world
 ranking in the 2008-09 Fraser Institute scorecard for mining jurisdictions.

• Continued the success of the PACE initiative. The initiative, in particular the collaborative drilling 
 project, has been a major driver of the mining boom in SA. Successes to date include the Carrapateena
 (copper/gold), Gullivers (heavy mineral sands) and Four Mile (uranium) prospects. Round fi ve drilling
 attracted 66 proposals, of which 29 were funded, with the majority being IOCG (iron oxide/copper/
 gold) projects in the Gawler Craton.

• Continued prospectivity research in collaboration with academic, industry and CRC partners has 
 continued.

• Continued targeted promotion of SA’s mineral prospectivity both nationally and internationally.

• Case managed 32 mineral projects.

• Approved 297 mineral exploration work programs in 2008-09, including the approval of 730 660   
 drilling metres.

• The PACE initiative, in particular the collaborative drilling project, has been a major driver
 in maintaining strong exploration levels during the current economic downturn. More than 15 signifi cant
 discoveries were made over the fi ve rounds of the collaborative drilling project. A two-year extension of
 PACE will see ongoing fi nancial commitment from industry participants leading to the discovery of
 signifi cant new deposits and mineralisation styles. 
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T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Assist at least two signifi cant mining developments to achieve fi nal approvals and move into 
 construction. 

• Maintain SA’s share of national exploration expenditure, including geothermal prospects. 

• Continue updates to the Minerals section of PIRSA’s website and complete Phase One (Scope and
 Requirements) of the redevelopment of the SA Resources Information Geoserver (SARIG).

• Implement work programs associated with PACE’s sixth year.

• Maintain leadership in nationally-signifi cant native title agreements in the minerals and petroleum 
 sectors.

P A C E  I N I T I A T I V E

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Facilitated the completion of 29 resource exploration projects through providing $2.3 million in 
 collaborative drilling funds.

• All Australian states have now introduced PACE-like initiatives, the most recent being WA, which
 launched its $80 million Exploration Incentive Scheme in May 2009.

• Contributed to the PACE-funded Centre for Mineral Exploration Under Cover at the University of
  Adelaide establishing itself nationally as a lead agency for the education and training in the science of
 mineral exploration. Achievements included:

 - Nine Honours projects being completed in 2008;

 - Staff member Dr Kate Selway being named SA Young Achiever of  the Year for 2008;

 - Signifi cant work on the construction of a state-of-the-art 3D geology and geophysics laboratory in   
  the centre. The lab is expected to be completed in late 2009, leading to the development of the fi rst  
  3D geological map of the state.

T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Continue to increase SA’s share of national exploration expenditure to levels surpassed only by WA.

• Continue to increase SA’s world ranking for mineral potential while also maintaining our position as a
 national leader.

• Implement PACE year six work programs.

• Recapture PIRSA’s world number one ranking for the delivery of geoscientifi c information.
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P I R S A  F O R E S T R Y

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• BUSINESS INVESTMENT (T1.5)

OBJECTIVE 3 – ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY 

• GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS REDUCTION (T3.5)

OBJECTIVE 4 – FOSTERING CREATIVITY AND INNOVATION

• CREATIVE INDUSTRIES (T4.1)

PIRSA Forestry supports the sustainable development of an internationally-competitive forest industry, 
regional development and the provision of services from State Government forest reserves.

This role includes:

• Policy advice to the Minister and State Government in relation to forestry, forest industries and 
 associated environmental matters.

• Programs to support forest industry development, farm forestry and pest, disease and fi re protection
 for the state’s forestry industries.

• Programs that facilitate community benefi ts from forestry activities, including public activities and 
 biodiversity management in the state’s forest reserves.

These responsibilities refl ect commitments that the government has made to support the economic 
development of forest-based industries and meet a range of community and environmental expectations.

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Provided input into national climate change policy and promoted the SA forestry industry’s 
 involvement.

• Developed a statistical economic scorecard for the forest industry.

• Established the Forest Industry Development Board to provide leadership for innovation and 
 development in the forest and forest products industry sector that supports sustainable economic
 growth in SA.

• Contributed to a whole-of-government policy framework for managing the water resource impacts of
 plantations.

• Developed the new Guidelines for Plantation Forestry in South Australia 2009.

• Conducted communication, education and promotion of workforce development activities.

• Promoted Forestry Matters!, a major forest education resource to schools and the community.

• Contributed more than 33 000 hours through volunteers and community program participants to
 improve the social values and environmental services of the state’s forest reserves. This fi gure increased
 by more than 12 000 hours from 2007-08.
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T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Assist the Forest Industry Development Board in developing an interim Forest Industry Strategic Plan
 through public consultation.

• Encourage carbon sequestration by facilitating investment in plantations, as well as small-scale and 
 farm-based forests.

• Assist the forest industry with climate change adaptation strategies.

• Pursue multiple-benefi t opportunities from forests, including for natural resources management 
 outcomes (biodiversity enhancement, land rehabilitation, production) and landscape amenity and 
 recreation values.
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R U R A L  S O L U T I O N S  S A

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.14)

• MINERALS PRODUCTION (T1.18)

• LAND BIODIVERSITY (T3.2)

• REGIONAL POPULATION LEVELS (T5.9)

Rural Solutions SA delivers cost-effective and customer-focused services aimed at:

• Increasing the competitiveness of primary industry value chains (focus on food value chains and 
 minerals sectors);

• Integrating environmental solutions (focus on water-use effi ciency, climate change, carbon trading and
 natural resource management services); and

• Supporting regional communities in managing change (building on capacity assessments, risk 
 management and governance services).

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9
• Provided a diverse range of services to Department of Land, Water and Biodiversity Conservation
 (DWLBC), natural resource management (NRM) bodies and other government customers; agricultural
 industry development organisations; food, wine, forestry and resource companies; regional bodies; 
 primary producers and community groups.

• Delivered a range of services on behalf of PIRSA and commercial customers in the areas of fi eld crops, 
 livestock, horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture that were aimed at improving the competitiveness of
 industry value chains. Key projects included involvement in a study into the technological, economic
 and commercial aspects of hydroponic horticultural crops on the Northern Adelaide Plains, together
 with improving ecological condition, productivity and profi tability in the Southern Rangelands.

• Conducted focus groups across Australia as part of the Pathways to Drought Management project,
 which identifi ed tools, resources and activities to help farm businesses better prepare and manage the
 tough times during drought.

• Provided technical and program support services to NRM boards.

• Supported SA’s minerals targets through projects assisting mine operators to meet their regulatory
 obligations, as well as conducting community consultation, environmental impact assessments, 
 rehabilitation and monitoring.

• Delivered other key projects including the Adelaide Blue Gums forestry project, support to the Upper
 South East Program and working with the dairy industry in developing regional guidelines to provide
 updated technical and one-on-one technical assistance regarding the design and management of existing
 dairy shed systems.

• Used the latest in software technology to deliver a four-year development program to improve 
 irrigation effi ciency. The program, the Irrigation Recording and Evaluation System (IRES), won a 
 2008 SA Great  Award for Water Sustainability.

• Conducted a national initiative aimed at improving the pork industry’s image, enhancing education 
 and encouraging school students to consider a career in the pig industry.

• Continued to work closely with farmers in Exceptional Circumstances declared areas.
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T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Deliver services to the fi eld crop, livestock, horticulture, fi sheries and aquaculture industries aimed at
 improving the competitiveness of SA value chains on behalf of PIRSA and commercial customers.

• Deliver environmental management services including revegetation, animal and plant control, rangeland
 assessment and soil, land and water management on behalf of DWLBC and commercial customers.

• Develop services supporting structural change in regional communities, social research and stakeholder
 engagement, planning for communities, industries and businesses, training and change management. 
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S A R D I

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• ECONOMIC GROWTH (T1.1) 

• TOTAL EXPORTS (T1.14) 

• STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE (1.21)

OBJECTIVE 2 - IMPROVING WELL-BEING

OBJECTIVE 3 - ATTAINING SUSTAINABILITY

OBJECTIVE 4 - FOSTERING CREATIVITY

• COMMERCIALISATION OF RESEARCH (T4.6)

• PUBLIC EXPENDITURE (T4.9)

• AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT RESOURCES (T4.10)

The South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) delivers robust scientifi c solutions to 
support internationally competitive, sustainable primary industries. Scientifi c programs create opportunities 
for market growth within food, agriculture, aquatic and bioscience industries, ensuring they remain interna-
tionally competitive and ecologically sustainable.

SARDI’s scientifi c outcomes contribute to SA’s Strategic Plan through targets relating to the economy and 
the environment, linked to the state’s Science and Technology Plan (STI10) to:

• Attract investment and develop critical infrastructure;

• Increase industry productivity and economic performance;

• Meet specifi c industry priorities;

• Pursue innovation in environmental issues.

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Completed the $6.59 million expansion of the Lincoln Marine Science Centre. The centre is a focus
 for Marine Innovation South Australia’s (MISA) research and education programs to support growth of
 the seafood industry sector.

• Contributed to the successful launch of the Wine Innovation Cluster, in partnership with the Australian
  Wine Research Institute, CSIRO, University of Adelaide and Provisor.

• Commissioned a new piece of equipment aimed at advancing livestock genetic gain. The BioMark 
 real-time polymerase chain reaction device is the only one of its type in an Australian research 
 laboratory and is expected to become a valuable resource accessed by the wider SA bioscience sector.

• Formed an historic aquatic science research alliance with Victoria to combine complementary 
 capabilities to enhance science outcomes, create new opportunities and coordinate networks.
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• Gained extension of a permit for citrus packing sheds to use a food-grade oil to protect exports from
 pests, avoiding the use of expensive fumigants that reduce shelf-life and restrict market opportunities.

• Established through testing that Australian farmed barramundi meets market regulations for the 
 European Union, which has the world’s strictest export food safety standards.

• Provided expertise in rearing farmed blue fi n tuna by improving the survival of larvae during the critical
 early stages of culture, in collaboration with the Australian Seafood CRC, MISA and Clean Seas Tuna Ltd.

• Established inaugural food science programs for small-to-medium businesses with high potential for
 value adding at the recently-launched SA Food Centre. The programs are run in partnership with PIRSA, 
 TAFE SA and DTED.

• Delivered workshops and training materials to address preventable soil-borne diseases that cost 
 Australian grain growers $300 million every year.  The program trained more than 200 Australian
 agronomists nationally.

• Published two books sharing the results of a seven-year project on using natural means to reduce pests
 and reliance on sprays in horticulture crops on the Northern Adelaide Plains. The project also 
 discovered new benefi cial insect species.

• Delivered strategies to manage Cercospora leaf spot, an emerging threat to Australia’s $80 million faba
 bean export industry.

• Completed a three-year study identifying the potential of composts to reduce losses caused by 
 entrenched plant root diseases on the Northern Adelaide Plains.

• Released two varieties of sulla, a new type of drought tolerant legume pasture fodder crop. The crop
 offers early dryland winter feed that is prolifi c and high quality where many other legumes fail. 

• Improved feed effi ciencies to the value of $6 million a year in the Australian chicken meat industry as a
 result of a collaborative research effort on dietary fi bre.

• Identifi ed the potential of the nutritional supplement betaine to increase pig fertility, especially in
 warmer weather. Research has demonstrated the supplement can reduce pregnancy losses during late
 summer and increase litter size in older sows.

• Staged an international conference to explore proximal crop sensing technology with the potential to
 help grain industries reduce crop input costs and boost yields.

• Established Australia’s largest viticulture irrigation trial in conjunction with Yalumba Nurseries, with the
 aim of protecting critical vineyard assets through drought.

• Identifi ed ways to improve crop yields to assist perennial horticulture facing limitations in water quality
 and quantity, through grower monitoring trials funded by the Drought Response project.

• Completed a major analysis of low-rainfall farming on Eyre Peninsula. The study modelled climate 
 scenarios through to 2030 and identifi ed the features of successful farming businesses that are strongly
 positioned for the future.

• Launched a new fi ve-year, industry-supported farming systems project combining the knowledge of
 farmers and researchers to better understand responsive farming systems.

• Established that root architecture is a strongly genetically-driven trait, providing a new avenue to breed
 drought tolerant crops. DNA tests used in the research project have the potential to revolutionise the
 study of root form to boost resilient agriculture.

• Created an effective cage that traps carp, a problem species in the River Murray, while allowing native
 fi sh to be released without harm.
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• Launched and promoted the Saltland Genie website in conjunction with the Future Farm Industries
 CRC to provide productive pasture and grazing solutions for salt-affected farming land. The site will
 become the centrepiece of a new national saltland training course.

• Launched seagliders in SA waters to provide new insights into the marine environment. Scientists will
 use information to determine the nature and magnitude of deep boundary currents between Eyre 
 Peninsula and the western mouth of Bass Strait.

• Completed a study into the effects of land and crop management practices on fi re risk in agricultural
 districts using PHOENIX simulation software. Commissioned in response to Coroner’s 
 recommendations following the 2005 Wangary bushfi re, the study was conducted with the Bushfi re
 CRC and the University of Melbourne.

T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Commission and deploy major infrastructure for the Integrated Marine Observing System in SA waters. 

• Establish an international collaborative alliance to validate and implement a DNA-based risk assessment
 tool for soil-borne potato diseases. 

• Establish a pilot-scale algae growth facility for the production and development of biofuels at 
 West Beach.

• Install joint research programs of the SARDI/DPI  Victoria Strategic  Aquatics  Alliance and develop a 
 business plan to enhance research outcomes and effi ciencies.

• Deliver value-added post-harvest solutions for the seafood industry to underpin targeted industry 
 revenue growth of 8% per annum, focusing on addressing technical trade barriers and manufacturing
 profi tability.

• Finalise the report, Climate Change and Viticulture: informing decision-making at a regional level, which
 sets out a framework to assess and prepare for the impacts of climate change.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 40

A G E N C Y  S U P P O R T

SA S t ra teg i c  P l an  t a rge t s

OBJECTIVE 1 – GROWING PROSPERITY

• EXPORTS (T1.15)

• MINERALS AND EXPLORATION (T1.15)

• COST-EFFECTIVENESS OF GOVERNMENT SERVICES (T1.18)

• TIMELY AND TRANSPARENT GOVERNMENT DECISION MAKING (T1.19)

The Corporate Division provides governance and business support services to PIRSA divisions and some 
external clients. The services are diverse and wide-ranging, including communications and marketing, 
corporate strategy and policy, fi nance and business services, human resource management, information 
management, risk management and audit. Legal services are available through an arrangement with the 
Crown Solicitor’s Offi ce.

The Corporate Division also provides services to a range of external clients including Defence SA, the 
Motor Accident Commission, the Department of Trade and Economic Development, the Department of 
Planning and Local Government, the  Adelaide Cemeteries  Authority and the Department of Land, Water 
and Biodiversity Conservation. It also provides the SA Motor Sport Board with information technology 
support for key events such as the Clipsal 500.

During 2008-09, PIRSA commissioned an independent review of its business support services to assess the 
potential for improvement. In May 2009, PIRSA endorsed the review recommendations that these services 
be provided on an integrated basis across the agency to improve consistency. The review also recommended 
that business processes be redesigned to improve their effectiveness and effi ciency.

Under the new model, all business support activities will be grouped into integrated functions and managed 
directly by functional heads. Support will then be provided back to divisions on a service relationship basis, 
rather than being ‘owned’ by individual divisions. PIRSA is confi dent that the changes will allow such services 
to be provided on a more consistent and cost-effective basis.

The new integrated model will be progressively implemented during 2009-10, beginning with a realignment 
of reporting lines from 1 July. 

Further changes to the way support services are delivered are occurring due to the ongoing implementation 
of the government’s shared services reform. Financial accounting services will be moved to Shared Services 
SA in early June 2009. The challenge will continue throughout the coming year to manage service delivery by 
Shared Services SA and prepare for the transition of further services in the future.

The division implemented several other important initiatives, including:

• Facilitating a review of PIRSA priorities and fi nances in response to current changing fi nancial 
 circumstances.

• Promoting environmental awareness through the Green and Groovy Trail event.

• Implementing a performance management and development process for all Corporate Division staff.

• Upgrading the PIRSA Intranet site, including a new home page, reorganising content and improving
 search facilities.

Major achievements in 2008-09 and targets for 2009-10 for each of the Corporate Division functional units 
follow.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 41

C O M M U N I C A T I O N S  A N D  M A R K E T I N G

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Project managed, in conjunction with Plant Health Operations, a new fruit fl y community awareness
 campaign with a cut-through message urging people not to “traffi c” fruit fl y into SA. The campaign won
 the Best Public Relations Campaign at the 2009 SA Media  Awards.

• Produced quality publications to journalistic standards, including the quarterly Primetime, PIRSA’s
 fl agship internal magazine promoting staff innovation and achievements, and the annual Milestones
 booklet highlighting leading-edge PIRSA projects.

• Produced video stories to broadcast standards to promote PIRSA’s innovative projects and embrace
 visual technologies.

• Puppy educated PIRSA’s third Royal Society for the Blind guide dog, in line with the State Government’s
 support for disability awareness, volunteering and community service.

C O R P O R A T E  S T R A T E G Y  A N D  P O L I C Y

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Produced 2008-09 State ScoreCards for the agrifood, wine and minerals areas.

• Provided rate limiter analysis across the Agriculture, Wine, Food and Fisheries and Forestry portfolios.

• Provided policy and economic advice to the Water Security Council and the Olympic Dam Task Force.

• Progressed the Coalition of Australian Governments (COAG) national reform processes (Mine Safety
 and Upstream Oil and Gas) and facilitated the expansion of ABARE surveys relevant to primary 
 industries.

T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Promote value chain thinking and understanding in PIRSA and beyond in alignment with 
 recommendations from Adelaide Thinker in Residence Professor Andrew Fearne.

• Produce 2009-10 State ScoreCards for the agrifood, wine and minerals areas.

• Undertake a review of PIRSA reporting processes and structures, with the aim of improving agency
 governance.

• Develop and implement PIRSA’s Red Tape Reduction Plan.

F I N A N C E  A N D  B U S I N E S S  S E R V I C E S

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Assisted the PIRSA Chief Executive and Corporate Executive to develop savings strategies to manage
 measures announced in the 2008-09 and 2009-10 State Budgets and the 2008-09 Mid-Year Budget
 Review.
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• Implemented revised accounting arrangements associated with the establishment of Planning SA as 
 a separate entity from 1 July 2008 and subsequent transfers of the Offi ce for State/Local Government
 Relations and the Offi ce for the Southern Suburbs to the Department of Planning and Local 
 Government from 3 November 2008.

• Transitioned fi nancial accounting functions to Shared Services SA.

• Facilitated the introduction of the agency’s Financial Management Compliance Program.

• Approved 2950 grants and loans worth a total of $82 832 218 under various schemes such as the 
 Exceptional Circumstances and Planning for Recovery programs.

T A R G E T S  F O R  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Restructure the agency-wide fi nance and procurement functions as part of the business support review
 implementation project.

• Establish and support a budget sub-committee of the PIRSA Executive to oversee the implementation
 of the PIRSA savings measures and to assist with the monitoring and management of the agency budget.

H U M A N  R E S O U R C E S

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Partnered with four key divisions in the development and implementation of performance management
  and development action plans.

• Delivered awareness sessions, workshops and online resources to strengthen understanding and 
 capability in implementing performance conversations.

• Completed the PIRSA Leadership Development Strategy 2008-2010, which was endorsed by PIRSA
 Executive.

• Developed and implemented the PIRSA Leadership Development Program as a key platform of the
 Leadership Development Strategy.

• Ran modules under the Art of Managing Program to address identifi ed priority areas, including 
 recruitment and selection, ethics, delegations and cultural awareness

• Developed an online training module consistent with the whole-of-government Disability  Awareness
 and Discrimination Training Framework.

• Implemented the PIRSA Youth Strategy through the formation of the PIRSA Young Professionals  Action
 Team. The action team is focused on developing projects relating to fostering innovation, recruitment
 and retention and communications and marketing. 

• Developed the 2009-2011 Strategic Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare and Injury Management
 Plan, which includes the key requirements of the Performance Standards for Self-Insured Employers and
 addresses a key 2008 WorkCover evaluation non-conformance.
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• Developed new human resources management policies and associated procedures in fraud prevention,
 attraction and retention contracts, transition to retirement and grievance resolution.

• Established a workforce planning strategy to prepare the agency to respond to workforce adjustments.

T A R G E T S  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Implement the  Aboriginal Scholarship Program.

• Develop and implement a PIRSA Management Skills Development Program, incorporating modules
 previously run under the Art of Managing Program, and new modules to address other priority 
 governance areas such as fi nancial management and risk management.

• Deliver the three phases of the PIRSA Leadership Development Program: the Emerging Leadership
 Program, the Sustaining Leadership Program and the Executive Leadership Program.

• Launch the Online Disability Awareness and Discrimination Program, which represents a key feature
 of PIRSA’s Disability Action Plan and commitment to the whole-of-Government Promoting 
 Independence Framework. 

I N F O R M A T I O N  M A N A G E M E N T

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Conducted an audit of all agency licences and registrations as part of the State Government’s  Ask 
 Just Once and Red Tape Reduction service improvement strategies.

• Transitioned all mobile phones and electronic messaging services to new whole-of-government 
 contracts with Telstra.

• Implemented automated workfl ow processes for ministerial correspondence in the offi ces of 
 Ministers Holloway and Caica. 

• Completed implementation of the Objective electronic document and records management software
 across the agency.

• Conducted a major review of PIRSA’s requirements for spatial information and related delivery services
 in the fi rst half of 2009.

• Extended the digital map series depicting mineral resources potential in the Mt Lofty Ranges, Fleurieu
 Peninsula and Mid North areas.

• Upgraded information and communication technology (ICT) infrastructure to improve business system
 functionality. Key upgrades in 2008-09 included Oracle and Unix software, increased primary and 
 secondary data storage and replacement of various servers under the infrastructure replacement plan.

• Continued to develop the Primary Industries Information Management Systems (PIIMS). Key 
 improvements included a licence and registration module for opal mining, with the facility to download
 information for fi eld data collection and subsequent upload into PIIMS.

• Converted approximately 100 000 pages of manual records into digital format to enable mining 
 companies to access information online.

• Upgraded the PIRSA Intranet site.
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T A R G E T S  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Continue the Ask Just Once strategy to provide appropriate agency licences and registrations online by
 end of 2010.

• Participate in the implementation of the new website for SA Government Services, providing web 
 content for the various franchises including Drought, Water and Environment and Business in SA.

• Implementation of the spatial information review recommendations.

• Develop and implement PIRSA’s Red Tape Reduction Plan.

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T  A N D  A U D I T

D U R I N G  2 0 0 8 - 0 9

• Developed a fraud and corruption prevention training package for the department.

• Implemented a fi nancial checklist for divisions to self-assess and document their fi nancial processes and
 internal controls.

• Conducted risk workshops to allow divisions to revise their risk profi les.

• Completed internal audits to plan, improving internal control systems.

• Supported PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee, underpinning corporate governance.

T A R G E T S  2 0 0 9 - 1 0

• Update PIRRISK system to comply with new ISO 31000 requirements.

• Provide fraud and corruption prevention training to divisions.
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P R A C T I S I N G  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y

PIRSA’s sustainability focus is on the fi nancial, social and environmental aspects of the agency and its 
service delivery. This highlights PIRSA’s triple bottom line approach to environmental performance, an 
internationally-recognised method of demonstrating sustainability.

PIRSA’s Executive team is committed to the Greening of Government Operations (GoGO) Framework, 
The Green PIRSA Implementation Plan and the PIRSA Environmental Policy. By committing to these 
policies, PIRSA ensures sustainability applies equally to its external industry development focus as well as to 
its internal performance. It also helps PIRSA support whole-of-government environmentally sustainable and 
eco-effi cient practices.

G R E E N I N G  O F  G O V E R N M E N T  

O P E R A T I O N S  F R A M E W O R K

PIRSA is continuing to progress well against each of the milestones as set within the Cabinet-endorsed 
GoGO Action Plan, as set out below:

MILESTONE 1: Establish Chief Executive ‘Statement of Commitment to Greening of 
Agency Operations’

• The PIRSA Environmental Policy has been in place since being endorsed by Corporate Executive in
  April 2006.

MILESTONE 2: Allocated resources to set up governance and initiate internal review

• Corporate Executive endorsed the formation of the Green PIRSA Reference Group, which has been in
 operation since 2005 and is the department’s lead consultative mechanism on greening/sustainability
 issues. The Mineral and Energy Resources, Rural Solutions SA and Corporate divisions have also 
 established their own divisional greening governance structures to progress greening education,
 activities and programs for their respective areas. 

MILESTONE 3: Completed initial review of environmental impacts and determined priorities 
and allocated resources

• Review of environmental impacts, framework and current reporting systems is under way, with more
 comprehensive reporting processes to be put in place by late 2009.

MILESTONE 4: Set performance goals/internal targets (informed by SA’s Strategic Plan 
targets and/or other targets agreed by government)

• Eight outline documents, based on the eight priority areas of the GoGO Framework, have been 
 developed and endorsed by Corporate Executive.

• These documents provide the guiding principles on the way PIRSA will approach its operations in each
 specifi c priority area. 

• Agency targets have been set for the areas of travel and fl eet management and energy management:

• Energy usage by the agency reduced: 25% reduction by 2014 from 2000-01 levels. 

• Reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from the agency: reduced by 15% by 2010. 
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MILESTONE 5: Approved agency implementation plan and communication plan

• PIRSA’s Green Implementation Plan developed and endorsed in April 2006. 

• Subsequent development of nine divisional Green Implementation Plans, which were endorsed in June
 2007 to support the Green PIRSA Implementation Plan. 

• Communication plan developed in 2005 and currently under review. 

MILESTONE 6: Reported on status/progress in reaching performance goals/targets

• Monitoring and reporting under way to determine PIRSA’s progress towards set internal targets. 

 

MILESTONE 7: Initiated agency implementation plan

• PIRSA Green Implementation Plan has been in operation for 24 months and is being reviewed for 
 relevance and accurate refl ection of current infl uences. The review is scheduled to be completed by late
 2009.

 

MILESTONE 8: Undertaking ongoing measuring, monitoring, reporting and continuous
improvement of performance

• Reporting is under way on the priority area of energy management, travel and fl eet management, with
 work continuing on measures for other priority areas of water and wastewater conservation and waste. 

 

PIRSA’s ongoing commitment to greening its operations can be demonstrated by the following initiatives:

• A PIRSA-wide mobile phone recycling program through MobileMuster saw 62 kg of handsets and 
 accessories recycled in 2007-08. The Mobile Muster program was undertaken again in 2008-09 with the
 fi nal fi gures yet to be received.

• Corporate Division piloted the recycling of batteries and currently is reviewing the associated recycling
 guidelines.

• Corporate Division piloted a program for recycling of computer media items (CDs, DVDs and 
 computer fl oppy disks) and is currently reviewing associated recycling guidelines.

• Corporate Division is piloting measuring and reporting on airfare usage and associated greenhouse gas
 emissions.

• A bike storage compound to store 21 bicycles is being built in the basement of 25 Grenfell Street, to
 encourage staff to participate in more sustainable forms of transport to and from work.

The agency will continue to investigate opportunities to reduce its environmental footprint.
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E N E R G Y  E F F I C I E N C Y  A C T I O N  
P L A N  R E P O R T

P E R F O R M A N C E  A G A I N S T  A N N U A L  

E N E R G Y  U S E  T A R G E T S

The table below summarises PIRSA’s energy expenditure, consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) 
emissions for 2008-09 against the base year of 2000-01 and portfolio targets.

Energy consumption in buildings 
(leased/owned)

2000-2001 (base year) a

2000-2001 (base year) 
business measures

2008-09 b

2008-2009 (base year) 
business measures

Final portfolio target (2014)

Expenditure 
($)

$1 558 985

1 136 $/fte
26.70 $/m2

$1 873 619

$1 344 $/fte
$32.1/m2

Energy Use 
(GJ)

76 372

55.67 GJ/fte
1.30 GJ/m2

64 529

46.30 GJ/fte
1.10 GJ/m2

57 279

GHG Emissions
(tonnes of CO2)

15 092

11 GHG/fte
0.25 GHG/m2

9 490

6.80 GHG/fte
0.16 GHG/m2

a. Base year fi gures and portfolio targets refl ect changes in portfolio structures from 1 July 2008.

b. Figures are based on information available as at 18/09/09. Due to billing cycles for different sites and availability of information,  
 some sites’ consumption have been estimated based on previous years’ consumption.

c. Business measures have been based on square metres. Base year business measures are based on information of sites 
 occupied at the time.

d. The portfolio target (2014) meets the government’s undertaking of a 25% reduction in energy use in government buildings by
 2014.

S I G N I F I C A N T  E N E R G Y  M A N A G E M E N T  

A C H I E V E M E N T S

101 Grenfell Street

• As part of the new lease agreement, the building owner has installed conversion kits of T5 lighting to
 the seven fl oors that PIRSA occupies, which will provide benefi ts in reduced energy consumption and
 less loading on the air-conditioning system.

Mt Gambier

• Conversion kits have been installed to convert the existing fl uorescent lighting to T5 lighting.
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M A N A G E M E N T  O F  H U M A N  R E S O U R C E S

Employee numbers, gender and status

Salary Bracket

$0 - $47 999

$48 000 - $60 999

$61 000 - $78 199

$78 200 - $98 499

$98 000+

TOTAL

Male

143

201

301

202

34

881

Female

184

211

205

50

5

655

Total

327

412

506

252

39

1536

Total number of employees

Persons

FTEs

1536

1391.11

PERSONS

Male
Female
TOTAL

Ongoing

496
365
861

Short-term 
contract

50
74
124

Long-term 
contract

276
165
441

Other (casual)

59
51
110

Total

881
655
1536

FTEs

Male
Female
TOTAL

Ongoing

489.97
329.28
819.25

Short-term 
contract

44.02
62.73
106.75

Long-term 
contract

267.92
144.16
412.08

Other (casual)

30.89
22.14
53.03

Total

832.8
558.31
1391.11

Status of employees in current position

Number of employees by salary bracket

Gender

Male

Female

% persons

57.36

42.64

% FTEs

59.87

40.13

Number of persons during the 08-09 fi nancial year

Separated from the agency

Recruited to the agency

519

296

Number of persons at 30 June 2009

On leave without pay 53
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EXECUTIVES BY GENDER, CLASSIFICATION AND STATUS

Salary Bracket

$0 - $47 999

$48 000 - $60 999

$61 000 - $78 199

$78 200 - $98 499

$98 500+

TOTAL

Aboriginal staff

7

1

2

0

0

10

Total staff

327

412

506

252

39

1536

Percentage of agency

2.1407

0.2427

0.3953

0

0

0.651

Strategic plan benchmark*

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

* Target from SA’s Strategic Plan

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY
Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait Islander (ATSI) employees

Leave type

Sick leave

Family carer’s leave

Miscellaneous special leave

2005-06

5.2

0.5

0.6

2006-07

5.7

0.6

0.4

2007-08

6.0

0.8

0.4

2008-09

6.4

1.0

0.4

LEAVE MANAGEMENT
Average days’ leave per full-time equivalent employee

Classifi cation

EXEC0A

EXEC0C

EXEC0F

SAES1

SAES2

Total

Male

1

0

0

0

0

1

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

0

1

1

24

7

33

Female

0

0

0

3

1

4

Male

0

0

0

0

0

0

Female

0

0

0

0

0

0

Male

1

1

1

24

7

34

Female

0

0

0

3

1

4

Ongoing Contract 
tenured

Contract 
untenured

Other 
(casual)

Total
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Age bracket

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65+

TOTAL

Number of employees by age bracket and gender

Male

6

20

78

89

90

99

110

156

143

67

23

881

Female

5

40

106

111

83

72

79

92

44

18

5

655

Total

11

60

184

200

173

171

189

248

187

85

28

1536

% of total

0.72

3.91

11.98

13.02

11.26

11.13

12.3

16.15

12.17

5.53

1.82

100

Workforce benchmark*

6.5%

10.3%

11.1%

10.7%

11.7%

11.4%

11.9%

10.3%

8.2%

5.3%

2.6%

100.0

* Source:  Australian Bureau of Statistics Australian Demographic Statistics, 6291.0.55.001 Labour Force Status (ST LM8) by sex, age, state, 
marital status – employed – total from Feb78 Supertable, SA at May 2009.

Age bracket

Number of employees born overseas

Number of employees who speak 
language(s) other than English at home

Cultural and linguistic diversity

Male

106

31

Female

87

31

Total

193

62

% agency

12.57

4.04

 SA community*

20.3%

16.6%

* Benchmarks from ABS Publication Basic Community Profi le (SA) Cat No. 2001.0, 2006 census.

Number of employees with disabilities (according to Commonwealth DDA defi nition)

Total

23

% of agency

1.5%

Disability

Physical

Intellectual

Sensory

Psychological/Psychiatric

Other

Total

Types of employee disabilities

Total*

40

2

33

11

5

77

% of agency**

2.4%

0.1%

2.0%

0.7%

0.3%

Comment: Source SMC endorsed survey on 30 April 2008.    *Also represents people with more than one disability.  
**Represents % of employees at time of survey.

Female

9

Male

14
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Number of employees with disabilities requiring workplace adaptation

Total

21

% of agency

1.36

Employees with ...

A review within the past 12 months

A review older than 12 months

No review

% of total  workforce

39

27 

34

PEFORMANCE DEVELOPMENT
Documented review of individual performance management

Training and development

Total training and development expenditure

Total leadership and management development expenditure

Total cost

$3 204 119

$1 225 498

LEADERSHIP AND MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT
Leadership and management training expenditure 

% of total salary expenditure

2.7

1.03

ASO1

ASO2

ASO3

ASO4

ASO5

ASO6

ASO7

ASO8

EXEC

GSE2

GSE5

MAS3

OPS1

OPS2

OPS3

Classifi cation

ACCREDITED TRAINING PACKAGES
Accredited training packages by classifi cation

Female

7

Male

14

No. of accredited training packages Classifi cation No. of accredited training packages

2

7

12

8

9

7

11

3

1

1

2

2

2

12

12

OPS4

OPS5

OPS6

PO1

PO2

PO3

PO4

PO5

SAE

TGO0

TGO1

TGO2

TGO3

TRA1

17

9

8

18

17

22

19

18

8

1

4

3

1

1
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E Q U A L  E M P L O Y M E N T  O P P O R T U N I T Y  

P R O G R A M S

Youth Training Scheme  

PIRSA has continued to support the State Government Youth Traineeship Scheme. The calibre of trainees 
was outstanding, which resulted in early placement into ongoing positions for a number of PIRSA trainees. 

Aboriginal Recruitment and Development Strategy
PIRSA continues to make advances in its Aboriginal initiatives, which are now better expressed as 
‘Aboriginal Reconciliation’. See Appendix 6.

Aboriginal Employment Target and Initiatives 
Performance agreements between the Chief Executive and Executive Directors have specifi c performance 
indicators regarding Aboriginal Employment targets and Initiatives.

Aboriginal Traineeships 
PIRSA continues to employ Aboriginal trainees with a number of exciting opportunities established in the 
Fisheries Division.

A 2007/2009 Aboriginal Trainee Graduate has been placed in ongoing employment with Corporate Division.

Aboriginal Employees’ Network
The Aboriginal Employees’ Network has been established in order to provide networking, information 
exchange and peer support opportunities for PIRSA Aboriginal employees.

Chief Executive’s Aboriginal Scholarship Program
The Chief Executive has proposed an Aboriginal Scholarship Program. Work to date includes research, 
connections with a university and draft a proposal paper.

Strategy for Employment of People with Disabilities
PIRSA’s efforts in achieving the State Government’s Promoting Independence Framework and Target 6.22 
of the SA Strategic Plan (to double the number of people with a disability employed in PIRSA by 2014) have 
been expressed in a number of key initiatives including:

Retention (of people with disabilities through the following strategies):
• Workplace modifi cations including partnerships with the Royal Society for the Blind;

• Attention to musculoskeletal issues by engaging consultants to conduct periodic ergonomic 
 assessments; and

• Partnerships with Disability Works Australia.
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Training:

• An Online Disability Awareness Training program has been developed to empower employees to work
 effectively and confi dently with people with a disability and to explore strategies for establishing a 
 disability-friendly workplace. Generally, the learning areas delve into myths and realities, customer 
 service, the business case for employing people with disabilities and the Disability Discrimination Act.

Human resource management policies:

• PIRSA has been actively developing tools for employee empowerment in areas that affect all employees
 including those with disabilities, such as the Grievance Resolution and Freedom from Harassment and
 Bullying policies. 

Cultural
PIRSA has continued to actively support, acknowledge and participate in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island-
er celebrations, such as National Aboriginal Islander Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC) week. Specifi c 
messages have also been communicated to all employees around reconciliation. 

Gender Reporting
PIRSA strategies to support the development of women include:

• The continuation of a Women in Executive Sub-Group to assist in achieving SASP Target 6.23, 
 “Executive commitment to women’s participation at executive levels”. This builds on a previous 
 commitment by PIRSA Executive to women’s development when, in October 1999, PIRSA Executive
 established a target of 25% of women in PIRSA at ASO6 level (equivalent) and above by December
 2003. This target has now been exceeded, with the percentage of women at ASO6 or equivalent and
 above (PSM Act employees only) currently at 25.15%.

• Development opportunities offered through PIRSA’s Women in Leadership Program and the 
 Leadership for the Future Program.

• Access to fl exible working arrangement practices, including fl exi-time, purchased leave, compressed
 weeks, part-time job share and working from home.
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O T H E R  M A T T E R S

Account Payment Performance 

Treasurer’s Instruction 11 (Public Finance and Audit Act 1987) requires all undisputed accounts to be paid 
within 30 days of the date of the invoice or claim or the date fi rst received by the agency unless there is 
a discount or a written agreement between the agency and the creditor. As indicated in the table below, 
PIRSA paid 94% of all invoices in 2008-09 on time. This compares with 91% of all invoices paid on time in 
2007-08. In 2008 09, the performance is primarily based upon the date of the invoice or claim fi rst received 
in the agency.  

Account Payment Performance 2008  - 09

Particulars

Paid by the due date

Paid within 30 days or less from the due date

Paid more than 30 days from the due date

Accounts paid Amount paid

Number

51 737

2 691

813

%

94

5

1

$’000

332 008

7 630

2 433

%

97

2

1

Contractual Arrangements

PIRSA had one contractual arrangement during 2008-09 where the contract was worth more than 
$4 million in total. The contract was put in place in 2003-04 with the Gribbles Group Ltd for veterinary 
diagnostic services to the livestock industry (including apiary and aquatic industries) and data on the 
incidence and control of diseases and residues in livestock or livestock products. The contract with the 
Gribbles Group Ltd is for an initial term of fi ve years (with extension options) and has a total value of 
$4.3 million (or $860 000 per annum).

Fraud
PIRSA Corporate Human Resources developed an ethics module as part of the Art of Managing program 
in the last fi nancial year. Delivery commenced in the last quarter of 2008. It focuses on employee fraud 
behaviour, public sector conduct, fraud and corruption and internal governance processes. The module is 
underpinned by legislative mandates, avenues of recourse and action and application of policy and 
procedures.

The following policies have been developed to prevent and address fraud: Whistleblower’s Policy and 
Procedure, the Grievance Resolution Policy and the Fraud and Corruption Prevention Policy. 

There were no proven instances of fraud in 2008-09.

Regional Impact Assessment Statements
No regional impact assessment statements were required in 2008-09.
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Asbestos Management

PIRSA-owned sites with asbestos-containing material have been inspected and a program that recommends 
on remediation or maintenance has been developed. The condition of asbestos has been classifi ed based on 
advice from DTEI. 

Category

1

2

3

4

5

6

Category description

At start of year At end of year

Recommended action

Remove

Remove as soon as practicable

Use care during maintenance

Monitor condition

No asbestos identifi ed/identifi ed 
asbestos has been removed.

Further information required

Should be removed promptly.

Should be scheduled for removal at a 
practicable time.

May need removal during 
maintenance.

Has asbestos present. Inspect 
according to legislation and policy.

All asbestos identifi ed as per 
OHS&W 4.2.10(1) has been 
removed.

These sites not yet categorised.

0

9

9

7

22

0

0

7

13

5

6

36

Note:   Asbestos removal has been undertaken at a number of PIRSA sites in the 2008 09 fi nancial year. The variation   
   in numbers from the previous annual report is predominantly due to a change in reporting from the Strategic
   Asset Management Information System (SAMIS) Hazardous Materials Register.

Defi nitions

Category:    The site performance score is determined by the lowest performance score.

Category description:   Indicates the recommended action corresponding to the lowest item performance score (recorded in the
   asbestos register by a competent person, as per OHS&W Regulations (SA) 1995, 4.2.10).

Number of sites in category:  A count of sites has the corresponding site performance score, with separate counts done at the beginning 
   and end of each year.

Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare and Injury Management
PIRSA has demonstrated continued improvement in Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare and Injury 
Management (OHS&W and IM) in the 2008-09 period, especially in areas designed to resolve a number of 
the 2008 WorkCover Evaluation non-conformances.
 
Highlights include the development of the Strategic Plan 2008-2010 and the OHS&W and IM Policy. The 
commitment of signifi cant resources has ensured the development of an internal audit procedure and 
implementation of an internal audit program throughout PIRSA. The results will further position PIRSA for 
continued improvement. 

In addressing specifi c high-risk activities, OHS&W and IM and Risk and Audit have worked closely to 
develop a revised OHS&W and IM Risk Profi le.  

Strategies to address such high-risk activities as driving, manual handling, hazardous substances and confi ned 
spaces have been developed.

A risk-based programmed review of all PIRSAFE procedures has progressed.  

Number of sites
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An evaluation for an improved PIRSA OHS&W and IM training program has been completed, with the 
development of four new modules, namely hazard management and risk assessments, manual handling 
including ergonomics, psychological health and legislative compliance.

OHS&W practitioners continue to meet on a monthly basis to discuss strategies for effective OHS&W and 
IM. PIRSA’s OHS&W and IM Peak Consultative Forum continues to meet on a quarterly basis. 

The Safety in the Public Sector 2007-2010 strategy targets were set on baseline data for 2005-2006. This 
was an exceptional year for PIRSA OHS&W and IM performance, making it diffi cult to improve on already 
good performance. 

This year the number of new workplace injury claims was seven above the notional target of 26. The Lost 
Time Frequency Rate of 5.5% was slightly higher than the notional target of 3.1%, though it remains lower 
than the SA Public Sector performance of 14.4% (recorded in March 2009).  

A successful achievement of an early intervention rate of 100% has signifi cantly infl uenced the excellent 
return-to-work rate, with 78% of claimants returning to work within fi ve working days.

Reporting Against the Carers’ Recognition Act
PIRSA is committed to recognising and supporting the role carers play in society, in particular to our 
employees who have carer responsibilities. We ensure that wherever possible, their needs are met in 
relation to balancing work and their carer responsibilities and promote participation in our health and 
wellbeing programs.

The Carers’ Recognition Act 2005 (the Act) defi nes a carer as a person who provides ongoing care or 
assistance to someone who has a disability. The disability may relate to a physical, intellectual or mental 
illness, a chronic disease, a terminal condition or may relate to a person who is frail and therefore needs 
assistance to carry out daily tasks.

Consistent with the Act, the SA Carers’ Policy and the Carers’ Charter, PIRSA has developed further 
strategies to ensure that the needs of our carers are recognised and supported.
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Section B:  Reporting in relation to carers who are employees

Consultations with carers – on program or policy development; 
on strategic or operational planning

1.  Have you consulted carers who are employees of your agency on workplace policies and 
 practices which affect them?

 Yes  X   No   Plan to

 If yes, provide detail

 Consultation has occurred through HR Managers, HR Practitioners, and informal processes directly with carers on  
 the development of policies.

 If yes, what areas have you identifi ed or undertaken for changes as a result of the consultation with employees?

 Flexible work practices continue to be strongly promoted throughout the agency for not only carers, but for   
 people with disabilities and those balancing family and work commitments.

2.  Has there been allocation of staff and/or resources to undertake these processes?

 Yes    No       Included in mainstream

                             X

 If yes, please detail

 Integrated in both management and HR practices.

Information is available to specifi c carer groups and for transition points of caring role

6.  Do you have a corporate strategy in place to ensure information and communication is
 provided to carers who are employees which will assist them to make choices in relation to 
 employment arrangements?

 Yes                No              Preparing one       Within other polices  X

 If yes, please provide detail 

 An Online Disability Awareness Training program has been developed to empower employees to work effectively
 and confi dently with people with a disability and to explore strategies for establishing a disability-friendly 
 workplace. Generally, the learning areas delve into myths and realities, customer service, the business case for 
 employing people with disabilities and the Disability Discrimination Act. The training program takes into account
 the needs of carers.

7.  Has your agency consulted carers who are employees on their needs for information and preferred 
 means of distribution?

 Yes               No  X   In process

 If yes, please provide detail
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8.  Do you provide information which is specifi c to carers who are employees of your organisation?

 Yes    No  X    

 If yes, what information is provided, please specify

9.  Do you have information for employees e.g. young carers,  Aboriginal carers, carers of culturally 
 and linguistically diverse backgrounds?

 Yes    No  X    In part 

 If yes, please provide detail

The health and wellbeing of the carer is improved

10.  Do you have strategies for carers who are your employees, which will support them to 
 maintain their health and wellbeing?

 Yes  X   No  

If yes, please provide detail 

All employees are encouraged to participate in the PIRSA’s Health and Wellbeing programs which includes psychological 
wellbeing.
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D I S A B I L I T Y  A C T I O N  P L A N

PIRSA is committed to supporting the rights of people with disabilities and will promote the recognition 
and acceptance within PIRSA of the principle that people with disabilities have the same fundamental rights 
as the rest of the community.

Signifi cant progress had already been made on achieving the outcomes of PIRSA’s second Disability Action 
Plan 2006-2009. This plan is currently subject to review.

Outcomes achieved are summarised as follows:

1. Portfolios and their agencies ensure accessibility to their services to people with 
 disabilities.

 • PIRSA is currently developing its third Disability Action Plan for 2009-2012.
 • Experienced people continue to provide advisory and consultancy services in disability matters.
 • A prioritisation list of facilities management works is currently being drafted following the review of 
  100% of PIRSA-occupied buildings in the last reporting period.
 • Anecdotal evidence suggests that the hearing facilities that were installed at two PIRSA reception
  counters in the CBD in the last reporting period are working well.
 • Upgrades to CBD toilet facilities continue.
 • Specifi c modifi cations have been and continue to be undertaken to accommodate employees with
  disabilities.
 • Human resource policies continue to include disability awareness and promote positive practices.
 • PIRSA continues to promote and educate staff on creating accessible events.

2.  Portfolios and their agencies ensure information about their services and programs is   
 inclusive of people with disabilities.

 • A Communication Policy has been endorsed which provides access and equity guidelines for
  printed and electronic communications.
 • Websites running on the new content management system continue to include an accessibility
  statement, which outlines who to contact for alternative versions of documents as well as a 
  statement explaining the measures PIRSA is taking towards website accessibility.
 • Printed publications are available in alternative formats or languages other than English, upon 
  request.
 • Publications strive to refl ect the diversity of the SA community.

3. Portfolios and their agencies deliver advice or services to people with disabilities with   
 awareness and understanding of issues affecting people with disabilities.

 • An Online Disability Awareness Training program has been developed to empower employees to
  work effectively and confi dently with people with a disability and to explore strategies for 
  establishing a disability-friendly workplace. Generally, the learning areas delve into myths and 
  realities, customer service, the business case for employing people with disabilities and the 
  Disability Discrimination Act. It will be launched in October 2009 and piloted to begin with.
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4. Portfolios and their agencies provide opportunities for consultation with people with 
 disabilities in decision-making processes regarding service delivery and in the 
 implementation of complaints and grievance mechanisms.

 • PIRSA’s Online Disability Awareness Training program will continue to draw attention to the need
  for consultation with people with disabilities in relevant decision-making processes.
 • PIRSA maintains its partnerships with the Commonwealth Rehabilitation Service (for assisting
  people with disabilities with employment), Disability Works Australia (for recruitment), accredited
  access consultants for refurbishments and access reviews, DeafSA and RSB.
 • A Complaints and Grievance Policy has now been approved.

5. Each portfolio Chief Executive will ensure that their portfolio has met the requirements
 of the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 and the Equal Opportunity Act 1984.

 • Our Disability Action Plan and Implementation Strategy 2006-2009 is being reviewed for the 
  2009-2012 cycle. 
 • PIRSA’s Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executives and Executive Directors will continue to be 
  accountable for achieving the key outcomes of the revised strategy. The requirement to report on
  the progress of the plan will continue to be included in Executive individual performance 
  agreements.
 • Human resources policies and guidelines continue to be inclusive of people with disabilities.

6. Each portfolio and its agencies will explore ways of meeting the SA Strategic Plan Target 
 (T6.22), “To double the number of people with disabilities employed in the public sector
  by 2014”.

 • PIRSA actively promotes and supports Disability Works Australia in recruitment strategies for
  people with disabilities.
 • PIRSA continues to provide support for work hardening placements for people with disabilities
  through the Commonwealth Rehabilitation Service and Natalie Bottroff and Associates.
 • PIRSA continues to actively promote and develop rehabilitation programs for employees acquiring a
  non-compensable disability to assist in a sustainable return to work, where appropriate.
 • An online survey was conducted to establish a baseline for the T6.22. Results were positive. The
  response rate refl ected positively on the climate in PIRSA of disability awareness and understanding, 
  with people feeling more comfortable declaring their disability. Notably, 93% of respondents felt
  supported in the workplace. An ‘interrogation of data’ strategy is currently being considered.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 61

F I N A N C I A L  O V E R V I E W

The tables below summarise the income statement, balance sheet and statement of cash fl ows of the 
department for the year ended 30 June 2009. The results are compared with the 2008-09 budget and the 
results for the previous year.  The full detailed fi nancial statements and notes to the accounts of the 
department are presented in Appendix 8.

Expenses

Income

Net cost of 
providing services

Revenues from SA 
Government

Payments to SA 
Government

Net result 

Changes in asset 
revaluation reserve

Total comprehensive 
result

2008-09 
Budget
$000’s  (a)

372 439

235 481

136 958

141 240

(10 500)

(6 218)

-

(6 218)

2008-09 
Actual
$000’s 

359 417

175 058

184 359

188 234

(10 500)

(6 625)

-

(6 625)

2007-08 
Actual

$000’s (b) 

301 866

145 802

156 064

152 137

-

(3 927)

14 560

10 633

The 2008-09 fi nancial statements are refl ective of the following functional transfers:

• Planning SA was established as a separate administrative unit of the public service on 1 July 2008 and its
 functions were transferred to that entity on that date (subsequently renamed Department of Planning
 and Local Government (DPLG)). 

• The Offi ce for State and Local Government Relations, Offi ce for Southern Suburbs and Offi ce for the
  Northern Suburbs transferred to DPLG on 3 November 2008.

• Certain aspects of the business services of PIRSA have progressively transferred to Shared Services SA
 in a series of transition programs known as Tranches. PIRSA’s Tranche 1 services, namely accounts
 payable and accounts receivable, transitioned to Shared Services SA on 14 July 2008, followed by Payroll
 Services, which transitioned on 4 August 2008. PIRSA’s Tranche 2 services, included the fi nancial 
 accounting function that transitioned to Shared Services SA on 9 June 2009.

a)  The 2008-09 Budget fi gures have been adjusted from the fi gures published in the 2008-09 Portfolio statements as a result of 
 post-budget approvals.

(b)  The 2007-08 Actual fi gures have been revised relative to those published in the 2007-08 Annual Report, due to the recognition 
 of prior period adjustments.

Summary Income Statement
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Summary Balance Sheet

Current Assets

Non Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities

Non Current 
Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

2008-09 
Budget
$000’s 

102 214

152 275

254 489

34 689

25 071

59 760

194 729

2008-09 
Actual
$000’s 

102 561

144 292

246 853

34 167

29 638

63 805

183 048

2007-09 
Actual

$000’s (a) 

108 899

144 924

253 823

37 459

28 516

65 975

187 848

The table above shows that for the fi nancial year ending 30 June 2009, PIRSA’s net result was an operating 
defi cit of $6.6 million and a $0.4 million unfavourable net result relative to budget. 

Major variations included:

Total expenses in 2008-09 were $13 million lower than budget primarily as a result of drought related issues 
and the timing of the anticipated uptake of the Exceptional Circumstances assistance program.

Total income was $60.4 million lower than budgeted primarily from income of $60 million that will now be 
recovered in 2009-10 as part of the repayments to the Department for construction payments of the Jervois 
to Langhorne and Currency Creek pipeline. This income will be a combination of Commonwealth 
Government funding and irrigators’ contributions through the Creeks Pipeline Company.

Total income in 2008-09 increased by $29.3 million from 2007–08 and this was principally due to an increase 
in grant revenue for the Exceptional Circumstances drought relief funding and the fi rst time recognition of 
a 4.2GL water licence held by PIRSA to facilitate sale of the licence to the Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation to complete South Australia’s water recovery target of 35GL under the Living 
Murray Initiative. The $10.5 million proceeds from the sale were returned to the State Government. Income 
from fees and charges were lower primarily due to the transfer of the activities of Planning SA to DPLG.

Total expenses were $57.5 million higher than in 2007–08 primarily as a result of increased grant and 
subsidy payments associated with the state and Exceptional Circumstances drought relief programs. The 
Department also entered into an arrangement with the Department of Treasury and Finance, SA Water, 
Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation and the Creeks Pipeline Company for the 
construction of the Jervois to Langhorne Creek and Currency Creek Irrigation Pipeline ($56.8 million in 
2008-09). This was in line with Cabinet policy and incurred fees of $2.3 million. The expenditure on these 
new initiatives was partly offset by the transfer of functions to DPLG.

(a)  The 2008-09 Budget fi gures have been adjusted from the fi gures published in the 2008-09 Portfolio statements as a result of post
  budget approvals.

(b)  The 2007-08 Actual fi gures have been revised relative to those published in the 2007-08 Annual Report due to the recognition of
  prior period adjustments.
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Cash payments from operating activities were $4.7 million over budget predominantly from recognition of 
$16.1 million in GST payments that are not recognised in the budget, offset by

lower than anticipated demand for the State and Commonwealth funded drought response programs $10.7 
million.

Cash receipts from operating activities were $38 million under budget. This mainly refl ects deferred income 
of $60 million recoverable from the Creeks Pipeline Company in 2009-10 as payments to PIRSA for con-
struction of the Jervois to Langhorne and Currency Creek irrigation pipeline, lower grant revenue received 
of $7.5 million associated with the drought response programs, offset by increased regulatory fee and other 
revenue of $7.1 million and $4.4 million respectively and $16.3 million of GST revenue that is not recognised 
in the budget.

Current assets were $300 000 higher than budget, primarily as a result of an increase of $6.5 million in cash held 
and offset by a lower receivables balance of $6.1 million. This was due mainly to reduced revenue receivable of 
$5.8 million at year’s end for the Exceptional Circumstances drought relief program. 

Non-current assets were $8.0 million below budget primarily due to several prior year adjustments, including 
• a valuation adjustment of mineral library core tray assets of $5.0 million; 
• lower depreciation charges of $2.0 million arising from revision of asset effective lives; and 
• a lower asset spend compared to budget of $1.0 million, mainly on National Collaborative Research 
 Infrastructure Strategy projects.

Total liabilities were $4.0 million above budget primarily from increased employee benefi t entitlements of $2.1 
million, recognition of new accommodation lease incentives $2.2 million, an additional $2.0m revenue received in 
advance for the Exceptional Circumstances drought relief program, and provisioning for a retrospective payment 
of GST of $200,000 on milk sales for the period July 2005 to June 2008. This has been offset by a $1.0 million 
reduction in the loan portfolio and a net reduction of $1.9 million in the creditors’ balance at year end.

Summary Statement of Cash Flows

Cash fl ows from 
operating activities

 Payments
 Receipts

Net cash fl ows from government

Net cash provided by 
operating activities

Cash fl ows from investing 
and fi nancing activities 

 Payments
 Repayments of borrowings
 Receipts

Net cash used in investing 
and fi nancing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at 1 July

2008-09 
Budget
$000’s 

(361 005)
225 115

130 740
(5 150)

(9 070)
(4 923)
11 665
(2 328)

(7 478)
82 007
74 529

2008-09 
Actual
$000’s 

(365 733) 
187 133

177 734
(866)

(7 272)
(4 536)
13 387
1 579

713
80 284
80 997

2007-08 
Actual

$000’s (a) 

(305 534)
154 775

152 137
1 378

(6 508)
(993)
1 437

(6 064)

(4 686)
84 970
80 284

(a)  The 2008-09 Budget fi gures have been adjusted from the fi gures published in the 2008-09 Portfolio statements as a result of post
 budget approvals.

(b)  The 2007-08 Actual fi gures have been revised relative to those published in the 2007-08 Annual Report due to the recognition of 
 prior period adjustments.
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Receipts from investing and fi nancing activities were $1.7 million greater than budget, mainly due to higher 
repayments of loans from the rural sector.

Payments for investing activities were $1.8 million lower than budget largely due to variations in the 
timing of expenditure on major projects including $1.0 million for the Photobioreactor and Integrated 
Marine Observation System under the National Collaborative Research Infrastructure Strategy (NCRIS).

Independent Auditor Report
Appendix 8 contains the unqualifi ed independent report of the Auditor-General.

Property, Plant and Equipment Assets
PIRSA owns and manages property, plant and equipment assets valued at $132.6 million, including a number 
of large research centres across the state. PIRSA has an ongoing need to reinvest in building, equipment and 
information technology to produce its agreed service delivery outcomes.

Land and building infrastructure assets represent 79.9% of the agency’s capital investments.

Property, Plant and Equipment as at 30 June 2009 

In 2008-09, the total value of property, plant and equipment decreased by 5.3% from $140.1 million to 
$132.6 million in 2008-09. The decrease was largely due to a range of prior year valuation adjustments for 
core library assets and infrastructure and the transfer of property, plant and equipment assets to the DPLG.
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A P P E N D I C E S

A P P E N D I X  1

P I R S A  M I N I S T E R I A L  R E S P O N S I B L I T I E S

The principal legislation, for which PIRSA has administrative responsibility in 2008-09, through the Minister 
for Mineral Resources Development, the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries and the Minister for 
Forests, is listed below. In some instances these Acts are supported by Regulations, Notices and Indentures 
or Directions.

Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (South Australia) Act 1994
Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Act 2002
Aquaculture Act 2001
Barley Exporting Act 2007
Biological Control Act 1986
Branding of Pigs Act 1964
Brands Act 1933
Chicken Meat Industry Act 2003
Citrus Industry Act 2005
Fisheries (Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Rationalisation) Act 1987
Fisheries Management Act 2007
Fruit and Plant Protection Act 1992
Genetically Modifi ed Crops Management Act 2004
Impounding Act 1920
Livestock Act 1997
Noxious Insects Act 1934
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Act 1995
Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998
Primary Produce (Food Safety Schemes) Act 2004
Primary Producers Emergency Assistance Act 1967
Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act 1985
South Australian Meat Corporation Act 1936
South Australian Meat Corporation (Sale of Assets) Act 1996
Veterinary Practice Act 2003
Wheat Marketing Act 1989
Wine Grapes Industry Act 1991

Mineral Resources development
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Indenture Act 1937
Cooper Basin (Ratifi cation) Act 1975
Mines and Works Inspection Act 1920
Mining Act 1971
Offshore Minerals Act 2000
Opal Mining Act 1995
Petroleum Act 2000
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982
Roxby Downs (Indenture Ratifi cation) Act 1982
Stony Point (Liquids Project) Ratifi cation Act 1981
Whyalla Steel Works Act 1958
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Other Acts
In addition, PIRSA has limited administrative functions under the following Acts that are committed to other 
Ministers.

Fisheries Act 1995 (Vic)
Fisheries Management Act 1994 (NSW)
Fisheries Management Act 1991 (Cwlth)
Fish Resources Management Act 1994 (WA)
Harbours and Navigation Act 1993
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1976 (Cwlth)
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1981
National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972
Petroleum Products Regulation Act 1995
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1967 (Cwlth)
Occupational Health and Welfare Act 1986
Explosives Act 1936
Environment Protection Act 1936
River Murrray Act 2003
Native Vegetation Act 2003
Development Act 1993
Radiation and Protection and Control Act 1982

L E G I S L A T I V E  C H A N G E S

Acts repealed
None

Acts whose repeal received assent from Parliament during 2007-08 but were not proclaimed 
by 30 June 2008
None

Acts passed, proclaimed or amended during 2008-09
None

Bills introduced into Parliament in 2008-09 but not passed
Petroleum (Miscellaneous) Amendment Bill 

A D M I N I S T E R E D  I T E M S

PIRSA administers, but does not control, the following funds on behalf of the Commonwealth Government, 
the Minister for Mineral Resources Development, the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries and the 
Minister for Forests. These funds are not recorded in the agency’s operating statement or statement of 
fi nancial position as the agency does not have any discretion to deploy the resources for achievement of its 
own objectives.
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Adelaide Hills Wine Industry Fund
Agricultural Research Services
Aquaculture Lease Rehabilitation Fund
Aquaculture Resource Management Fund
Cattle Industry Fund
Citrus Growers’ Fund
Egg Industry Deregulation Fund
Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund
Fisheries Research and Development Fund
Grains Industry Levy
Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Levy
Langhorne Creek Wine Industry Fund
Marine Scalefi sh Industry Fund
McLaren Vale Wine Industry Fund
Mining Royalties
Minister’s salary and allowances
Pig Industry Fund
Riverland Wine Industry Fund
Seed Levies Fund
Apiary Industry Fund
SA Water Corporation
Samcor Fund administered
Sheep Industry Fund
Rock Lobster Industry Fund
SA Grape Growers Industry Fund
Barossa Wine industry Fund
Clare Valley Wine Industry Fund

A U T H O R I T I E S

Statutory
Statutory authorities associated with primary industries and resources and regional development and within 
the Ministers’ areas of responsibility are listed below. PIRSA provides relevant advice and assistance to 
these. 

Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
Advisory Board of Agriculture
Aquaculture Advisory Committee
Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board
Dairy Authority of SA
Farmbis State Planning Group
Fisheries Council of SA
Genetically Modifi ed Crop Advisory Committee
Horticulture Industry Charges Panel
Meat Food Safety Advisory Committee
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Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board of SA Selection Committee
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board of SA
Pig and Poultry Production Institute Advisory Board
Rural Assistance Appeals Committee
Rural Solutions SA Board
SA Alpaca Advisory Group
SA Apiary Industry Advisory Group
SA Cattle Advisory Group
SA Citrus Industry Development Board
SA Citrus Industry Development Board Selection Committee
SA Deer Advisory Group
SA Goat Advisory Group
SA Horse Industry Advisory Group
SA Pig Industry Advisory Group
SA Sheep Advisory Group
Struan Agricultural Centre Management Advisory Committee
Veterinary Surgeons Board of SA

Mineral Resources Development
None

Other authorities
There are many non-statutory authorities on which PIRSA is represented. Signifi cant bodies are discussed 
in the Performance Summary section (for example, Premier’s Food Council, SA Wine Industry Council, 
Industry Development Boards for Beef, Dairy, Horticulture, Pork and Sheep and the Advisory Board of 
Agriculture).
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A P P E N D I X  2

O C C U P A T I O N A L  H E A L T H ,  S A F E T Y  A N D  

I N J U R Y  M A N A G E M E N T  S T A T I S T I C S

Number of notifi able occurrences pursuant to OHS&W Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notifi able injuries pursuant to OHS&W Regulations Division 6.6

Number of notices served pursuant to OHS&W Act s35, s39 and s40 (default, improvement and 
prohibition notices)

2

1

0

Table 1: OHS notices and corrective action taken 

EXPENDITURE

Income maintenance

Lump sum settlements:
redemptions - s 42

Lump sum settlements:
permanent disability – s 43

Medical/hospital costs combined

Other

Total Claims Expenditure

Table 2:  Agency gross1 workers’ compensation expenditure for 2008-09 compared with 2007-082

2008-09 ($m)

0.14

0.00

0.05

0.13

0.10

0.37

2007-08 ($m)

0.11

0.07

0.09

0.13

0.05

0.45

Variation ($m)  + (-)

+0.03

-0.07

-0.04

0.00

0.05

-0.08

% Change + (-)

+27%

-100%

-45%

0%

+100%

-18%
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1. Workplace fatalities

2. New workplace injury claims

3. New workplace injury claims 
-  frequency rate

4. Lost time injury 
frequency rate ***

5. New psychological injury 
claims

6. Rehabilitation and return to 
work:

6a. Early assessment within 2 days

6b. Early intervention within fi ve 
days

6c. Return to work within fi ve 
business days

7. Claim determination:

7a. Claims determined in 10 
business days

7b. Claims still to be determined 
after three months

8. Income maintenance payments 
for recent injuries:

2006/07 injuries (at 24 months 
development)

2007/08 Injuries (at 12 months 
development)

Table 3: Meeting Safety Performance Targets3

Final target
(2010)

Number 
or %

0

25

10.7%

3.1%

0

80% or more

80% or more

75% or more

75% or more

3% or less

Below previous
2 years average

Below previous
2 years average

Variation

0

+7

+2.6%

+2.2%

+3

-52.73%

+20%

+0.68%

+3.38%

+7.81%

+ $82 092

$36 562

Notional 
quarterly 

target

0

26

11.4%

3.3%

0

80%

80%

75%

75%

3%

45 792

$54 249

Actual

0

33

14%

5.5%

3

27.27%

100%

75.68%

78.38%

10.81%

$127 884

$90 811

Base:
2005-06

Number 
or %

0

31

13.4%

3.9%

0

93.55%

60%

76.67%

87.1%

3.23%

-

-

Performance: 12 months to end 
of June 2009

* Except for Target 8, which is YTD. For Targets 5, 6c, 7a and 7b, performance is measured up to the previous quarter to allow 
reporting lag.
**  Based on cumulative reduction from base at a constant quarterly fi gure. 
*** Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease for each one million hours worked. This 
frequency rate is calculated for benchmarking and is used by the WorkCover Corporation. 
Lost Time Injury frequency rate (new claims): Number of new cases of lost-time injury/disease for year x 1 000 000 Number of 
hours worked in the year

1 Before ECOV
2 Information available from IDEAS RS/SIMS (for detailed advice on data extraction contact PSWD)
3 Information available from IDEAS RS/SIMS (SIPS target report)
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Consultant    Summary of services

Aerometrex    Photogrammetric and survey services at Brukunga

Aurecon Australia Pty Ltd   RESIC infrastructure demand study

Australian Water Environments  Review current water quality reporting for Brukunga

Core Energy Group Pty Ltd  Study into Eastern Australian Gas Supply – demand and price forecast

ENSR Australia Pty Ltd   Review hydrogeochemical aspects of Beverley Four Mile Uranium Mine   
      proposal

Environmental Earth Sciences  Brukunga environmental audit and provision of a “Remediation to extent   
      necessary” opinion

Ernst & Young    Review of economic analysis functions

JAC Comrie Pty Ltd   Work associated with governance and fi nancial arrangements

John Pollock    Ngerin feasibility study

McDonnell Warhurst   Review of SARDI business services

McLaughlin Hodge Mitchell Pty Ltd (MHM) Review of operations of Roxby Downs Council

Metago Environmental Engineers  Review Terramin Angas project and review Olympic Dam tailings 
      management

Richard Stevens Consulting   Review of the Fisheries and Aquaculture Divisions

SA Centre for Economic Studies  Brukunga economic analysis of rehabilitation of mine site

Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd  Review of Pt Pirie

Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd  Review of Radium Hill

Terence Aust    Professional services

Vibrante Solutions   Assess the Cooper Basin region using existing data from Minerals and   
      Energy Resources

Workforce Planning Australia Pty Ltd Provision of services associated with the development of a workforce   
      plan

A P P E N D I X  3

C O N S U L T A N C I E S

During 2008-09, 33 consultancies were engaged for a total expenditure of $2 067 343. These are grouped 
as follows:

Consultancies under $10 000
Seven consultancies costing less than $10 000 were engaged for a total expenditure of $21 091.

Consultancies between $10 000 and $50 000
Nineteen consultancies costing between $10 000 and $50 000 were engaged for a total expenditure of 
$481 039.

The consulting fi rms that were engaged and a brief summary of the services for which they were engaged
are provided in the table below.
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Consultancies over $50 000
Seven consultancies costing more than $50 000 were engaged, for a total expenditure of $1 565 213.

The consulting fi rms that were engaged and a brief summary of the services for which they were engaged 
are provided in the table below.

Consultant    Summary of services

CRU Strategies    Olympic Dam expansion model

ENSR Australia Pty Ltd   Risk assessment and control scoping services for Pt Pirie and 
      Radium Hill remediation

ENSR Australia Pty Ltd   Pt Pirie and Radium Hill data review

Ernst & Young    Review of business support services

GHD Pty Ltd    Brukunga Phase One water balance model

Sinclair Knight Merz Pty Ltd  Brukunga remediation project – hydrological review

Tonkin Engineering Services  Brukunga geotechnical advisor
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Attended the Planning for Agriculture and Food stream of the annual Canadian 
Institute of Planners Conference in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Visit included a seminar 
presentation to the Planning for Agriculture and Food Network and a meeting 
with staff of the British Columbia Agricultural Land Commission and BC Ministry 
of Agriculture and Lands.

Accompanied the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries to Canada to raise 
the profi le of SA wine regions and wines, host various meetings in relation to 
food and wine and run wine master classes.

Study visit organised by the Australian Citrus Industry, including attendance 
at the 11th International Citrus Congress and participation in part two of the 
Citrus Industry China Study Tour.

Invited by the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE) to provide expert 
advice to the Ad Hoc Working Group on Animal Welfare and Chicken Broiler 
Production Systems.

Invited to speak at the International Conference on Molluscan Shellfi sh Safety in 
Nantes, France, and visit the Arachon oyster growing area.

Spoke at the Joint International Workshop run by the European Union (EU) and 
Food and Drug Administration on Application of Sanitary Surveys to Shellfi sh 
Production Areas in the UK.

 Subtotal

8 124

16 609

12 120

1 676

7 693

9 983

56 205

Canada

Canada

China

France

France

UK

EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST*

1   PIRSA’s fi nancial support for overseas visits varied from full payment (salary plus on-costs, fares, necessary living expenses, registration fees, 
etc.) to nil. In the latter instance there are generally two categories. All costs, including salary, are either externally funded or the monies are 
recouped through charging consultancy fees. 

1

1

1

1

1

1

Presented a paper at the 5th World Fisheries Congress on the evolution of man-
agement of pipis (Donax deltoides) in the SA Lower Lakes and Coorong fi shery.

 Subtotal

Japan

FISHERIES

2

AGRICULTURE, FOOD & WINE

A P P E N D I X  4

O V E R S E A S  T R A V E L

Overseas travel by PIRSA employees for the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009 is summarised below. 

In 2008–09, 113 overseas visits were made by PIRSA employees, for a total agency cost of $529 596.

MINERALS AND ENERGY

Minerals

Invited by the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) of the United Nations 
(UN) to give a technical presentation at the biennial International Symposium on 
Uranium Raw Material for the Nuclear Fuel Cycle: Exploration, Mining, 
Production, Supply and Demand, Economics and Environmental Issues.

Attended a major international gathering of mining and exploration companies 
to encourage investment in the SA minerals industry. Progressed collaborations 
with Canadian Government geosciences organisations and promoted SA mineral 
and exploration programs.

Attended the Prospectors’ and Developers’ Association Canada (PDAC) 
Conference in Toronto. Spoke on mineral potential in SA at the conference and 
attended meetings with Canadian Provincial Geological Surveys to encourage 
international private sector investment in Australia.

Austria

Canada

Canada

1

1

2

15 764

15 764

4 150

12 149

23 171

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
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EMPLOYEES    DESTINATION          PURPOSE                                                                                                                 AGENCY COST*

Participated in the international 2009 Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy 
and Petroleum (CIM) conference. Collected the Barlow Memorial Award for the 
best paper on economic geology published by the CIM in their journal 
Exploration and Mining Geology. Formally represented PIRSA at the DTED 
booth in the Trade Exhibition of the conference.

Attended the Japan Oil, Gas and Metal National Corporation and Prospectors’ 
and Developers’ Association Conference.

Attended the Prospectors’ and Developers’ Association Canada (PDAC) 2009 
Convention as SA’s representative to promote the state’s resource exploration 
and investment opportunities. Held preliminary meetings with representatives of 
the Yukon Geological Survey and Geological Survey of Saskatchewan. In London, 
England, attended company meetings and promoted SA’s exploration 
opportunities.

Attended a PIRSA seminar in Calgary and the North American Petroleum Expo 
in Houston. Made company visits to foster perceptions of SA as a preferred 
destination for petroleum and geothermal exploration and development 
investment.  Attended a specialised technical Stanford Geothermal Workshop. 

Visit undertaken as part of the Federal Australia China Fund grant to progress 
research collaborations with Chinese partners. PIRSA-funded attendance at the 
China Mining 2008 Conference to encourage Chinese investment in the SA 
minerals sector.

Trip included international collaboration with Guilin University of Technology, 
attendance at the 9th China National Conference of Mineral Deposits and 2008 
China Mining and study conducted as part of the Australia-China Special Fund 
for Scientifi c and Technological Cooperation and International Geological 
Correlation Program Project.

Attended the China Mining 2008 Conference in Beijing, met with Chinese mining 
companies and participated in the seminar hosted by Team Australia.

Attended the Mining Conference and Exhibition as part of the Team Australia 
delegation to India.

Attended the 13th Australia-Indonesia Joint Working Group meeting on Energy 
and Mineral Resources in Denpasar at the request of the Commonwealth 
Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism. 

Presented two papers at the 33rd International Geological Congress (IGC) in 
Oslo and attended the IGCP-514 annual meeting as co-leader.

Presented a paper at the IGC and attended the pre-congress fi eld trip.

Attended the IGC and associated fi eld trip in Oslo.  Also visited the Ukraine as 
part of the ICG, leading a fi eld trip to uranium operations and Challenger-style 
gold projects as the SA representative on the Team Australia booth.

Presented a paper on PIRSA’s involvement with the National Virtual Core 
Library project at the Geological Remote Sensing Group’s AGM in London.

Canada

Canada; Japan

Canada; UK

Canada; USA

China

China

China

India

Indonesia

Norway

Norway

Norway; Ukraine

UK

1

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

10 522

28 390

13 209

49 425

6 900

5 000

13 460

5 992

4 270

15 992

6 760

21 000

7 781

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
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Spoke at the Australia Week Water and Energy Forum in the USA, both as chair 
of the Australian Geothermal Energy Group and to foster investment in 
Australian geothermal project. In Brazil, represented the international and 
Australian geothermal sector as a coordinating lead author for the UN’s 
Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change report on renewable energy.

As chair of the Australian Geothermal Energy Group, and to foster investment 
in SA geothermal projects, attended the 2009 Stanford Geothermal Workshop 
and met with venture capitalists in Palo Alto.  In Tokyo, met with companies to 
stimulate competition among suppliers of specialised equipment for geothermal 
energy development.

Attended the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development’s 
International Energy Agency Geothermal Implementing Agreement (GIA) 
executive committee meeting in Busan to give the country report for Australia 
and attended the Annex (Working Group), plus a post-meeting fi eld trip to the 
Bohang geothermal project.

Attended a two-day workshop of the International Geothermal Association 
(IGA) to provide input into the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) Report.  Attended meetings including the GIA executive committee 
meeting.

Delivered a paper at the Geothermal Resource Council (GRC) Meeting and 
associated workshops in Reno.  Attended a two-day pre-conference geological 
fi eld trip and held meetings with the US Department of Energy.

Presented a paper with Geoscience Australia at the Stanford Geothermal 
Workshop. Attended meetings with technology companies, research experts 
and the SA Department of Energy and observed a well completion in an active 
geothermal power-producing area.

 Subtotal

Brazil; USA

Japan; USA

Korea

Spain

USA

USA

1

1

1

2

1

1

28 995

16 559

7 251

16 205

10 085

2 369

309 638

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Petroleum

RURAL SOLUTIONS SA

Delivered specialist workshops and conducted project research work at 
Hamelmalo Agricultural College as part of a Federal Department Agriculture, 
Fisheries and Forestry-commissioned consultancy project to provide a series 
of staff development and training workshops and conservation farming systems 
development.

Delivered specialist workshops and conducted project research work at 
Hamelmalo Agricultural College pertaining to strategic planning, rural 
development and food security issues. Part of the federal consultancy project 
detailed above.

Delivered a series of workshops and training sessions to staff and students at 
Hamelmalo Agriculture College, relating to conservation farming systems and 
the development of no-till seeding systems, rural enterprise development and 
risk management. Part of the federal consultancy project detailed above.

Scheduled visit to inspect wheat production trials, attend an international 
congress on conservation agriculture in Delhi and conduct training sessions and 
farmer fi eld days.  Attended as the Australian project leader for a joint 
Australia-India ACIAR project examining opportunities for enhancing wheat 
production systems in both countries.

Eritrea

Eritrea

Eritrea

India

2

2

2

1

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil
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Part of a consultancy project organised by ACIAR to support the development of 
the commercial pig industry in the Kupang area in West Timor.  This was the fi rst 
trip of a series of four planned over 12 months, all centring on the Kupang area.

Part of a consultancy project organised by ACIAR to support the development of 
the commercial pig industry in the Kupang area in West Timor. Second trip in a 
planned series of four.

Part of a consultancy project organised by ACIAR to support the development 
of the commercial pig industry in the Kupang area in West Timor.  Third visit in a 
planned series of four.

Delivered the second major activity in the “Overcoming post-harvest constraints 
to the profi table marketing of citrus from south-eastern Indonesia” project, 
organised by ACIAR, through SARDI.

Last of three visits to deliver outcomes for the ACIAR project, “Market 
development for citrus from eastern Indonesia”, with SARDI.

Delivered a paper at the fi rst International Russian Beef Industry Conference in 
Moscow. Serviced commercial consultancy contracts through Expo Trade Pty 
Ltd and their customers and attended meetings to generate new investment and 
funding and in turn new consultancy contracts.

Full commercial consultancy to two Russian companies to determine the 
economic viability of importing beef cattle to develop beef businesses in Russia.

Attended an ACIAR project meeting at the International Centre for Agriculture 
in Dry Areas (ICADA) on the Development of Conservation Cropping Systems 
in the drylands of northern Iraq. Provided specialist advice on the development 
of participatory-based agricultural extension systems.

Attended a required workshop for certifi cation bodies on the Guidelines for 
Assessing Small Scale/Data Defi cient Fisheries, which was necessary for Rural 
Solutions SA’s partnership agreement with TQCS International.

Presented a research paper at the 9th International Symposium on Integrating 
Canopy, Rootstock and Environmental Physiology in Orchard Systems in Geneva, 
New York, which included tours of the NY fruit production regions. Undertook 
a practical study tour of the Wenatchee apple producing region of Washington 
State.

 Subtotal

Indonesia

Indonesai

Indonesia

Indonesia

Indonesai

Russia

Russia

Syria

UK

USA

1

1

1

2

2

1

3

1

1

1

1 488

1 488

1 488

1 246

Nil

13 796

Nil

Nil

4 000

2 160

25 666

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE (SARDI)
Aquatic Sciences

Attended the American Fisheries Society (AFS) Conference in Ottawa, Canada. 
Collaborative fi shery modelling work with one of the researchers is ongoing.

Presented two talks at the International Aquatic Invasive Species Conference.

Attended the AFS Conference in Ottawa, Canada as part of the organising panel 
of a special symposium on the impacts of drought and climatic drying on aquatic 
habitat and fi sh. Met with symposium co-organisers and developed the 
symposium proceedings at the University of Alaska Fairbanks.

Canada

Canada

Canada; USA

1

1

1

5 083

Nil

Nil

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
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Represented the Australian Renderers’ Association and the World Renderers’ 
Organisation at the Global Aquaculture Alliance conference in Qingdao.

Participated in a presentation on progress in the ACIAR project “Achieving 
consistent spawning of captive yellow fi n tuna broodstock at Gondol Research 
Institute for Mariculture, Bali”. Reviewed all broodstock capture and conditioning 
operations and developed protocols to improve the success of capture 
operations.

Visit to introduce new collaborators from the Aquaculture Development Unit, 
Challenger TAFE WA and Indian Ocean Fresh Aust Pty Ltd to the  ACIAR yellow 
fi n tuna spawning project detailed above.

Participated in the 5th International Symposium of the Japanese Society for Fish 
Pathology and the 5th World Fisheries Congress.

Represented and marketed the National Collaborative Research Infrastructure 
Strategy (NCRIS) photobioreactor biofuels facility to gain further knowledge in 
photobioreactors and algal research for biofuels.

Attended the Taiwan Australia Strategic Workshop, “Innovation in Marine 
Biotechnologies and Bioresources for Sustainable Development”, held at the 
National Ocean University, Keeling and the National Taiwan University, Taipei, on 
the invitation of Australian Academy of Technological Sciences and Engineering.

Presented an oral paper at the Animals as Ocean Sensors Workshop hosted by 
Stanford University, and the 3rd International Bio-logging Science Symposium at 
the  Asilomar Conference Centre, California.

China

Indonesia

Indonesia

Japan

Singapore

Taiwan

USA

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2 187

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

2 418

1 790

Innovative Food and Plants

Delivered two presentations at the International Conference on Molluscan 
Shellfi sh Safety (ICMSS) and presented a bid for the ICMSS to be held in 
Australia in 2013. Met the European Commission in Brussells and oyster 
industry representatives and testing laboratories in France.

Attended the 11th International Citrus Congress in Wuhan, and visited a citrus 
growing region near conference location, as part of the Pat Barkley Foundation 
Award.

Attended the China Fisheries and Seafood Expo in Qingdao, China and met with 
government agencies and research institutions in China and Japan in order to 
inform the SA southern blue fi n tuna industry on emerging market access issues 
in the region.

Invited to manage and participate in an ACIAR program, “Market development 
for citrus from eastern Indonesia” in south-eastern Indonesia. This was the fi rst 
of three trips to Indonesia.

Invited to manage and participate in an ACIAR program, “Market development 
for citrus from Eastern Indonesia” in south-eastern Indonesia. Second of three 
planned visits.

Invited by ICADA, as part of a collaborate research project, to visit fi eld trials 
of pulse crops at ecological sites across Syria, to select novel pulse germplasm, 
tolerant to heat stress at reproductive stages.  The selected germplasm will now 
be imported into Australia for further research.

Belgium; France

China

China; Hong Kong;
Japan

Indonesia

Indonesia

Syria

1

1

1

1

2

1

Nil

Nil

5 308

Nil

Nil

3 414

$

$

$

$

$
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International Business

Travelled to the UK to compare the quality of Australian Pink Lady apples 
delivered by the existing and trial bulk bin shipment methods.  Visited the 
Grimsby Institute.

Invited as one of fi ve international speakers at a special symposium on the 
genetic basis of cereal quality at the American Association of Cereal Chemists’ 
International Annual Conference in Hawaii.

Facilitated an agreed work program for the “Preparation of a risk assessment 
profi le for Vietnamese frozen shrimp exports” project with the Danish 
International Development Agency (DANIDA).

Undertook agreed work for the “National workshop on the application of risk 
assessment in the fi sheries sector of Vietnam” project with DANIDA.
Undertook agreed work for the “Support in strengthening national capacity for 
risk assessment and management for Vietnamese fi sh and fi sh products” project 
with DANIDA.

Undertook agreed work with DANIDA for the “Support in strengthening 
national capacity for risk assessment and management for Vietnamese fi sh and 
fi sh products” project. Participated in a national workshop with staff from the 
National  Agriforestry and Fisheries Quality Assurance Directorate.

Undertook agreed work with DANIDA for the “Support in strengthening 
national capacity for risk assessment and management for Vietnamese fi sh and 
fi sh products” project. Participated in a national workshop with staff from the 
National Agriforestry and Fisheries Quality Assurance Directorate.

UK

USA

Vietnam

Vietnam

Vietnam

Vietnam

1

1

1

1

1

1

1 864

3 130

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Part of a science exchange delegation to Manitoba with representatives from 
SARDI and the three Adelaide universities to explore and develop new science 
collaboration opportunities within the framework of the Premier’s Science 
Collaboration Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).

Canada1 3 580

Presented a talk on “Contribution of new or potential forage germplasm to the 
development of animal production in arid and semi-arid regions” at a seminar of 
the 31st Argentine Animal Production Congress in Potrero de los Funes.  Took 
part in a scientifi c tour through cooperation with the Argentine Institute of 
Agricultural Technology in San Luis, Cordoba and La Rioja provinces.

Part of a science exchange delegation to Manitoba with representatives from 
SARDI and the three Adelaide universities to explore and develop new science 
collaboration opportunities within the framework of the Premier’s Science 
Collaboration MOU.

Attended the 8th International Conference on Pig Reproduction in Banff and 
visited the University of Alberta for collaborative research discussions. The visit 
resulted in the development of an international research agreement between 
SARDI and the Universities of Adelaide, Alberta and Wageningen (Netherlands) 
and the Roslin Institute (Scotland).

Attended a seminar at the Catholic University and spoke at the agricultural expo 
at Marchique in central Chile. Met with seed company Anasac, which is the sole 
provider of annual pasture seeds for Chile and which imports a large proportion 
of its pasture seeds from SA.

Argentina

Canada

Canada

Chile

1

1

1

1

Nil

12 014

9 032

3 465

Livestock and Farming Systems

$

$

$

$

$

$
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Visited the Shandong Academy of Sciences (SAS) in Jinan to design a genetic 
resource database for halophyte and salt-tolerant plants, based on SARDI’s 
Genebank database.

Attended the 2009 Eucarpia Conference to present a paper on plant germplasm 
collection and characterisation for Australian forage plant improvement.

Participated in the fi rst planning meeting of the EU ‘BrightAnimal’ project team 
and presented a lecture on Australian precision livestock farming.  Worked on 
collaborative research programs with the group managed by the CE of 
EuroAIDC Centre. Followed up the recent visit by Vice-Chancellor of Kaposvar 
University to SARDI and explored possibilities for international collaboration.

Visited the Universita degli Studi de Sassari in Sardinia to take part in research 
focusing on gene expression in pre-pubertal lamb oocytes and in vitro embryos.

Attended the 8th European Welfare Symposium on Poultry in Cervia, Italy and 
presented three papers on results from the SARDI poultry welfare research 
program.

Attended the fi nal project review meeting as part of a contractual agreement for 
the “Feeding village poultry in the Solomon Islands” project with ACIAR.

Invited as a keynote speaker to present a lecture at the International Symposium 
of the Korean National Institute of Livestock Industries.

Collection trip to source Melliotus siculus (Sicilian sweet clover) rhizobia from 
saline/waterlogged environments. The clover has been identifi ed as the best le-
gume prospect for improving productivity of Australia’s salt-affected agricultural 
land.

Chaired the fi nal review meeting for the ACIAR project, “Using local feeds to 
reduce the cost of pig and poultry production in Tonga”. Met with Institutions 
and aid donors to discuss future activities to extend the benefi ts of the project 
outcomes.

Facilitated the implementation of the collaborative research project, 
“Development of clam culture (including polyculture with prawn) for 
improvement and diversifi cation of livelihoods of the poor coastal communities 
in central  Vietnam”.

Initial implementation of the collaborative research project, “Development of 
clam culture for improvement and diversifi cation of livelihoods of the poor 
coastal communities in central  Vietnam”.

Further implementation of the collaborative research project, “Development 
of clam culture for improvement and diversifi cation of livelihoods of the poor 
coastal communities in central Vietnam”.

China

France

Hungary; UK

Italy

Italy

Solomon Islands

South Korea

Spain

Tonga

Vietnam

Vietnam

Vietnam; India

1

1

1

1

1

3

1

1

1

1

1

1

Nil

1 692

Nil

5 276

3 222

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

$

$

$

Sustainable Systems

Attended the 8th European Nitrogen Fixation Conference in Ghent, Belgium and 
presented a poster.  Visited the Centre for Microbial and Plant Genetics at the 
Katholieke University at Leuven.

Part of a science exchange delegation to Manitoba with representatives from 
SARDI and the three Adelaide universities to explore and develop new science 
collaboration opportunities within the framework of the Premier’s Science 
Collaboration MOU.

Belgium

Canada

1

1

850

9 738

$

$
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Attended the 2nd International Ascochyta Workshop in Pullman, Washington 
State.  Visited researchers at the University of Saskatchewan and Agriculture and 
Agrifood Canada in Saskatoon, Canada. Inspected soil and plant atmospheric 
research chambers (SPARCs) at the US Department of Agriculture’s Crop 
Systems and Global Change Laboratory in Beltsville, Maryland in preparation for 
SARDI’s anticipated initiative to develop SPARCs at the Waite.

Attended a HYDRUS hydrological modelling course at the University of Life 
Sciences in the Czech Republic, central to the expansion of modelling skills 
within SARDI’s sustainable systems soil and water research.  Visited the Lancaster 
Environment Centre in England.

Attended the 11th International Citrus Congress and visited a neighbouring 
citrus-growing region to exchange citrus integrated pest management (IPM) 
research information.

Attended the 4th International Symposium on Rhizoctonia in Berlin, Germany; 
the 9th International Congress of Plant Pathology (ICPP) in Turin, Italy; and the 
6th International Symposium on Olive Growing, Evora, Portugal.  Visited 
researchers’ and growers’ properties in areas of olive and greenhouse 
production in Spain and Portugal.

Attended the 6th International Workshop on Grapevine Trunk Diseases, 
representing Australasia on the International Council for Grapevine Trunk 
Diseases. Presented results from epidemiological studies of eutypa dieback. 
Visited the University of Modena and Reggio Emilia to discuss a collaborative 
project on the interaction between termite and eutypa dieback infected 
grapevines.

Attended the International Symposium on Soilless Culture and Hydroponics in 
Lima, Peru, and conducted a study tour and case studies of hydroponic green-
house vegetable growers in Spain.  The information collected will contribute to 
two major greenhouse industry projects.

Installed and serviced water monitoring sites on rivers draining to Laguna de Bay 
as part of collaborative research on the CSIRO and ACIAR project “Minimising 
agricultural pollution to enhance water quality in Laguna de Bay (Philippines) and 
Mt Lofty Ranges (Australia)” project.

Undertook agreed work and collaboration on the ACIAR project, “Bridging 
the gap between seasonal climate forecasts and agricultural decision-makers in 
Australia and the Philippines”.

Invited to undertake one-month’s consultancy work as an irrigation expert with 
the UN’s Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), developing strategies on 
irrigation and salinity management of date palm orchards in eastern Saudi  
Arabian oasis.

Invited keynote speaker at a road show of information days for wine grape 
growers in the major production areas of the Western Cape Province, an 
area with similar climate challenges to SA. Spent time in Stellenbosch with the 
viticulture research group of the Department of Viticulture and Oenology in the 
Faculty of AgriSciences, including visits to fi eld experiments on campus.

Canada; USA

Czech Republic;

UK

China

Germany; Italy;
Spain; Portugal

Italy

Peru; Spain

Philippines

Philippines

Saudi Arablia

South Africa

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

17 466

Nil

2 826

7 500

2 444

4 025

1 530

1 832

Nil

2 825

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
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Conducted a research trial in collaboration with researchers at Cornel 
University’s New York Agricultural Experiment Station as part of the project 
“Developing eradication strategies for exotic plant diseases of perennial crops”. 
Met with researchers from University of California in Davis, California to discuss 
collaborative research projects between SARDI, the university and the US 
Department of Agriculture.

Presented a paper at the Light Brown Apple Moth (LBAM) Research Conference.

Visited research centres in Oregon and Washington State to investigate and 
develop collaborative projects to manage a stunting disease problem threatening 
the sustainability of the onion industry in SA.

 Subtotal

 TOTAL

USA

USA

USA

1

1

1

1 800

Nil

6 012

122 323

529 596

$

$

$

$
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A P P E N D I X  5

F R E E D O M  O F  I N F O R M A T I O N

In previous years, PIRSA has published a Freedom of Information (FOI) statement in its annual report.

PIRSA now publishes an FOI statement on its website. It is available at www.pir.sa.gov.au.
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A P P E N D I X  6

S T A T E M E N T  O F  A B O R I G I N A L  

R E C O N C I L A T I O N

The Reconciliation Statement and Action Plan (RSAP) details strategies and actions that are intended to 
have positive and enduring impacts for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in respect to three main 
facets covering relationships, respect and opportunities.

RELATIONSHIPS
PIRSA acknowledges that relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are 
fundamental to achieving progress and mutually benefi cial solutions.

PIRSA established the Chief Executive’s Reconciliation Reference Committee (CERRC) in order to advance 
Aboriginal initiatives across a range of areas.

The group consists of the Chief Executive as chair, members of PIRSA Executive and key Aboriginal 
community leaders who represent the cultural and geographic diversity of SA Aboriginal people. It meets 
three to four times a year and since its formation has held three meetings.

Its terms of reference include the following:
• Identifying and mapping opportunities for the economic prosperity of Aboriginal people; 
• Devising and shaping the agenda as to how PIRSA can continue working towards achieving effective
 partnerships with Aboriginal people;
• Providing advice on strategies to improve potential outcomes from existing and future policies and
 programs for Aboriginal people;
• Identifying and informing PIRSA of emerging issues that might affect Aboriginal people;
• Acting as a conduit between PIRSA and other relevant advisory bodies aligned with Aboriginal 
 communities; and
• Providing sound and effective advice to PIRSA on strategies and actions covered in the RSAP.

At the most recent meeting in Whyalla, CERRC endorsed PIRSA’s Reconciliation Statement and Action Plan 
2008-2010.

Cultural awareness training and Pitjantjatjara language studies continue to be fundamental prerequisites for 
staff working on the Anangu Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara (APY) Lands.

Regular visits by PIRSA staff to Aboriginal communities provide for a proactive coverage and ownership of 
issues in respect to mineral exploration on Aboriginal lands. This has been crucial in fostering mutually-
benefi cial relationships between traditional owners, PIRSA and prospective mining companies.

RESPECT
PIRSA respects the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples’ cultures and traditions.

PIRSA has put in place arrangements whereby Aboriginal community leaders are invited to attend regional 
executive meetings, where key business or community interests are to be discussed. Other than respect to 
community leaders and their land, this provides a forum to hear fi rsthand issues that need to be considered 
by PIRSA in association with community leaders.
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OPPORTUNITIES
PIRSA will actively foster the creation of opportunities for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people.

The Aboriginal Employees’ Network and Aboriginal Employees’ Working Group have been established in 
order to provide networking, information exchange and peer support opportunities for PIRSA Aboriginal 
employees.

An Aboriginal Scholarship Program is also being pursued in consultation with relevant stakeholders.

The Mt Davies chrysoprase mine and the Birksgate petroleum well site have been rehabilitated using 
community equipment and local labour and have resulted in certifi ed training and skills development for 
Aboriginal people in the APY Lands.

PIRSA’s Recruitment and Selection Policy has been amended to include requirements for temporary 
vacancies of longer than six months to be referred to the Aboriginal Employment Register for referral of 
potential employees.



P I R S A  A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 0 8 - 0 9 85

A P P E N D I X  7

C O N T A C T S

Primary Industries and Resources South Australia
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide
GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001

Receptions:  Level 14, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide. Phone (08) 8226 0900
   Level 17, 101 Grenfell St, Adelaide. Phone (08) 8463 3000
   Fax (08) 8226 0027

Website: http://www.pir.sa.gov.au

PIRSA has about 50 offi ces across regional SA and the Adelaide metropolitan area. Contact details are on 
PIRSA’s website and in telephone directories.  At 30 June 2009:

ENQUIRY

Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries
Minister for Forests

Minister for Mineral Resources Development

Chief Executive

Corporate

Agriculture, Food and Wine

Aquaculture

Commercial Investment

Fisheries

Minerals and Energy Resources

PIRSA Forestry

Rural Solutions SA

South Australian Research and Development 
Institute (SARDI)

CONTACT

Paul Caica MP

Paul Holloway MLC

Geoff Knight
Chief Executive

Steve Archer
Deputy Chief Executive

Don Plowman
Deputy Chief Executive

Heather Montgomerie
A/Executive Director

Roger Hartley
Executive Director

Will Zacharin
Executive Director

Paul Heithersay
Deputy Chief Executive

Stuart West
Executive Director

Locky McLaren
Executive Director

Rob Lewis
Executive Director

PHONE, FAX AND LOCATIONS

Phone (08) 8226 0322 fax (08) 8226 0316
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8303 2500 fax (08) 8303 2597
Level 9, Terrace Towers, 178 North Tce, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0162 fax (08) 8226 0320
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0466 fax (08) 8226 0221
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0204 fax (08) 8463 3363
Level 9, 101 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0261 fax (08) 8226 0060
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0025 fax (08) 8226 0316
Level 16, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 2318 fax (08) 8226 0434
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8463 4153 fax (08) 8463 4155
Level 7, 101 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8463 6139 fax (08) 8124 4578
Level 15, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8226 0285 fax (08) 8463 3336
Level 8, 101 Grenfell St, Adelaide

Phone (08) 8303 9398 fax (08) 8303 9403
Plant Research Centre, Gate 2B, Hartley Grove, Urrbrae
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